UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

	FORM 10-Q
☑ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECT	TION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the qu	arterly period ended July 31, 2012
	or
☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECT	TON 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the trans	sition period from to
Commi	ission File Number: 001-35198
	dora Media, Inc. of registrant as specified in its charter)
Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)	94-3352630 (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
2101 Webster Street, Suite 1650 Oakland, CA	94612
(Address of principal executive offices)	(Zip Code)
(Registrant's t	(510) 451-4100 elephone number, including area code)
	required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the hired to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.
	tally and posted to its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated file of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting comp	er, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions vany" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
Large accelerated filer □	Accelerated filer □
Non-accelerated filer ⊠ (Do not check if a smaller reporting company)	Smaller reporting company □
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as d	efined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes □ No ⊠
The number of shares of registrant's common stock outstanding as of A	August 29, 2012 was: 168,878,677.

Table of Contents

Pandora Media, Inc.

FORM 10-Q Quarterly Report

Table of Contents

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

<u>Financial Statements</u>	3
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of January 31, 2012 and July 31, 2012 (unaudited)	3
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Three and Six Months Ended July 31, 2011 and 2012 (unaudited)	4
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss for the Three and Six Months Ended July 31, 2011 and 2012 (unaudited)	5
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Six Months Ended July 31, 2011 and 2012 (unaudited)	6
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)	7
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	15
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	27
Controls and Procedures	27
PART II. OTHER INFORMATION	
Legal Proceedings	27
Risk Factors	27
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	34
<u>Exhibits</u>	35
<u>Signatures</u>	36
	Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of January 31, 2012 and July 31, 2012 (unaudited) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Three and Six Months Ended July 31, 2011 and 2012 (unaudited) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss for the Three and Six Months Ended July 31, 2011 and 2012 (unaudited) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Six Months Ended July 31, 2011 and 2012 (unaudited) Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited) Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk Controls and Procedures PART II. OTHER INFORMATION Legal Proceedings Risk Factors Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds Exhibits

Table of Contents

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

Pandora Media, Inc. Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets (In thousands, except share and per share amounts) (Unaudited)

	As of January 31, 2012		As of July 31, 2012
Assets			
Current assets:			
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	44,126	\$ 49,539
Short-term investments		46,455	32,758
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of \$590 and \$418 at January 31 and July 31, 2012, respectively		66,738	80,387
Prepaid expenses and other current assets		2,806	3,551
Total current assets		160,125	166,235
Property and equipment, net		15,576	16,104
Other assets		2,314	2,154
Total assets	\$	178,015	\$ 184,493
Liabilities and stockholders' equity			
Current liabilities:			
Accounts payable	\$	2,053	\$ 3,473
Accrued liabilities		3,838	4,440
Accrued royalties		33,822	40,353
Deferred revenue		19,232	24,145
Accrued compensation		11,962	14,572
Total current liabilities		70,907	86,983
Other long-term liabilities		2,568	3,292
Total liabilities		73,475	90,275
Stockholders' equity:			
Preferred stock, \$0.0001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized as of January 31 and July 31, 2012, respectively; no			
shares issued and outstanding as of January 31 and July 31, 2012			
Common stock, \$0.0001 par value: 1,000,000,000 shares authorized as of January 31 and July 31, 2012, respectively;		1.6	1.7
163,569,361 and 168,452,486 shares issued and outstanding as of January 31 and July 31, 2012, respectively		16	17
Additional paid-in capital		205,955	221,272
Accumulated deficit		(101,426)	(127,069)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss		(5)	 (2)
Total stockholders' equity		104,540	 94,218
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$	178,015	\$ 184,493

Table of Contents

Pandora Media, Inc. Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations (In thousands, except per share amounts) (Unaudited)

	Three Months Ended July 31,			Six Months Ended July 31,			
		2011		2012	2011		2012
Revenue:							
Advertising	\$	58,258	\$	89,384	\$ 101,919	\$	159,981
Subscription services and other		8,708		11,883	16,087		22,070
Total revenue		66,966		101,267	118,006		182,051
Costs and expenses:							
Cost of revenue — Content acquisition costs		33,723		60,522	62,881		116,340
Cost of revenue - Other		5,460		7,514	9,820		14,431
Product development		3,426		4,475	6,157		8,594
Marketing and sales		14,502		23,457	27,466		46,917
General and administrative		8,410		10,602	15,353		21,214
Total costs and expenses		65,521		106,570	121,677		207,496
Income (loss) from operations		1,445		(5,303)	(3,671)		(25,445)
Other income (expense):							
Interest income		1		25	3		57
Interest expense		(261)		(136)	(370)		(260)
Other expense, net		(2,976)			(4,485)		
Loss before provision for income taxes		(1,791)		(5,414)	(8,523)		(25,648)
Income tax benefit (expense)		(21)		(1)	(43)		5
Net loss		(1,812)		(5,415)	(8,566)		(25,643)
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock		(40)		_	(110)		_
Increase in cumulative dividends payable upon conversion or							
liquidation of redeemable convertible preferred stock		(1,328)			(3,648)		<u> </u>
Net loss attributable to common stockholders	\$	(3,180)	\$	(5,415)	\$ (12,324)	\$	(25,643)
Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders	\$	(0.04)	\$	(0.03)	\$ (0.25)	\$	(0.15)
Weighted-average number of shares used in computing per share	_		_				
amounts		82,389		167,429	 49,204		166,428

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the condensed consolidated financial statements.

4

Table of Contents

Pandora Media, Inc. Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss (In thousands, except per share amounts) (Unaudited)

	Three Months Ended July 31,			Six Months Ended July 31,				
		2011		2012		2011		2012
Net loss	\$	(1,812)	\$	(5,415)	\$	(8,566)	\$	(25,643)
Other comprehensive loss:								
Change in net unrealized losses on marketable securities		_		_		_		3
Other comprehensive loss:		(1,812)		(5,415)		(8,566)		(25,640)
Total comprehensive loss	\$	(1,812)	\$	(5,415)	\$	(8,566)	\$	(25,640)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the condensed consolidated financial statements.

5

Table of Contents

Pandora Media, Inc. Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (In thousands) (Unaudited)

	Six Months Ended July 31,				
	 2011		2012		
Operating Activities	 		_		
Net loss	\$ (8,566)	\$	(25,643)		
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided (used in) by operating activities:					
Depreciation and amortization	1,715		3,336		
Loss on disposition of assets	_		23		
•					

Stock-based compensation	3,064	11,537
Remeasurement of preferred stock warrants	4,499	
Amortization of premium on investments	_	192
Amortization of debt issuance cost and debt discount	58	132
Changes in assets and liabilities:		
Accounts receivable	(9,223)	(13,649)
Prepaid expenses and other assets	(960)	(676)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	(1,138)	1,717
Accrued royalties	6,434	6,531
Accrued compensation	3,820	2,610
Deferred revenue	3,293	4,913
Reimbursement of cost of leasehold improvements	375	1,243
Net cash provided (used in) by operating activities	3,371	(7,734)
Investing Activities		
Purchases of property and equipment	(5,371)	(3,887)
Purchase of short-term investments		(35,093)
Maturities of short-term investments		48,560
Net cash provided by (used) in investing activities	(5,371)	9,580
Financing Activities	<u> </u>	
Repayments of debt	(7,596)	_
Proceeds from exercise of preferred stock warrants	165	_
Proceeds from initial public offering net of offering costs	91,666	_
Proceeds from issuance of common stock	654	3,567
Payment of dividends to preferred stockholders at initial public offering	(30,630)	<u> </u>
Net cash provided by financing activities	54,259	3,567
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents	52,259	5,413
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	43,048	44,126
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$ 95,307	49,539

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the condensed consolidated financial statements.

6

Table of Contents

Pandora Media, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Description of Business and Basis of Presentation

Pandora Media, Inc. (the "Company" or "Pandora") provides an internet radio service in the United States, offering a personalized experience for each of its listeners. The Company has developed a form of radio that uses intrinsic qualities of music to initially create stations that then adapt playlists in real-time based on the individual feedback of each listener.

The Company was incorporated as a California corporation in January 2000 and reincorporated as a Delaware corporation in December 2010.

Basis of Presentation

The interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes have been prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP") and include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. In the opinion of the Company's management, the interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include all adjustments, which include only normal recurring adjustments, necessary for the fair presentation of the Company's financial position for the periods presented. These interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements are not necessarily indicative of the results expected for the full fiscal year or for any subsequent period and should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and related notes included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2012.

Certain changes in presentation have been made to conform prior period presentation to current period reporting of the Company's content acquisition costs which are now included as a separate line item component of Cost of Revenue in the Company's Income Statement.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make certain estimates, judgments, and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the related disclosures at the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the periods presented. Estimates are used for determining selling prices for elements sold in multiple-element arrangements, the allowance for doubtful accounts, the fair value of common stock through the date of the Company's initial public offering ("IPO") in June 2011, stock-based compensation, fair values of investments, income taxes, and accrued royalties. To the extent there are material differences between these estimates, judgments, or assumptions and actual results, the Company's financial statements could be affected. In many cases, the accounting treatment of a particular transaction is specifically dictated by U.S. GAAP and does not require management's judgment in its application. There are also areas in which management's judgment in selecting among available alternatives would not produce a materially different result.

Fiscal Year

All references herein to a fiscal year refer to the 12 months ended January 31 of such year, and references to the first, second, third and fourth fiscal quarters refer to the three months ended April 30, July 31, October 31 and January 31, respectively.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

There have been no material changes to the Company's significant accounting policies as compared to those described in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2012.

Concentration of Credit Risk

For the three and six months ended July 31, 2011, the Company had one customer that accounted for 16% and 14%, respectively of the Company's total revenue. For the three and six months ended July 31, 2012, the Company had no customers that accounted for more than 10% of the Company's total revenue.

As of January 31 and July 31, 2012, the Company had no customers that accounted for more than 10% of the Company's total accounts receivable.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

Effective February 1, 2012, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2011-04, "Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS")." The ASU updates the accounting guidance to clarify and align Fair Value Measurement within U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards. In addition, the ASU updates certain requirements for measuring fair value and for disclosure around fair value measurement. It does not require additional fair value measurements and the ASU was not intended to establish valuation standards or affect valuation practices outside of financial reporting. The adoption of ASU 2011-04 did not have a significant impact on the Company's consolidated balance sheets or statements of operations.

7

Table of Contents

Pandora Media, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements - Continued

3. Composition of Certain Financial Statement Captions

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-term Investments

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments consisted of the following:

	Jan	As of uary 31, 2012		As of July 31, 2012
	-	(in tho	isands)	
Cash and cash equivalents:				
Cash	\$	6,604	\$	13,107
Money market funds		31,614		31,932
Commercial paper		2,893		3,000
Corporate debt securities		3,015		1,500
Total cash and cash equivalents	\$	44,126	\$	49,539
Short-term investments:				
Commercial paper	\$	27,587	\$	19,944
Corporate debt securities		17,968		10,314
U.S. agency notes		900		2,500
Total short-term investments	\$	46,455	\$	32,758
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments	\$	90,581	\$	82,297

The Company's short-term investments have maturities of less than 12 months and are classified as available for sale. As of January 31 and July 31, 2012 the cost basis of the Company's cash and cash equivalents approximated their fair values and as a result, no unrealized gains or losses were recorded as of January 31 and July 31, 2012.

The following tables summarize the Company's available-for-sale securities' adjusted cost, gross unrealized gains, gross unrealized losses and fair value by significant investment category as of January 31 and July 31, 2012 (in thousands).

	As of January 31, 2012								
	 Adjusted Cost		Unrealized Gains		Unrealized Losses		Fair Value		
Money market funds	\$ 31,614	\$	_	\$	_	\$	31,614		
Commercial paper	30,481		_		(1)		30,480		
Corporate debt securities	20,987		1		(5)		20,983		
U.S. agency notes	900		_				900		
Total cash equivalents and marketable securities	\$ 83.982	\$	1	\$	(6)	\$	83.977		

	As of July 31, 2012								
		Adjusted Cost		Unrealized Gains		Unrealized Losses		Fair Value	
Money market funds	\$	31,932	\$		\$		\$	31,932	
Commercial paper		22,944		_		_		22,944	
Corporate debt securities		11,816		1		(3)		11,814	
U.S. agency notes		2,500		_		_		2,500	
Total cash equivalents and marketable securities	\$	69,192	\$	1	\$	(3)	\$	69,190	

The Company's investment policy requires investments to be investment grade, primarily rated "A1" by Standard & Poor's or "P1" by Moody's or better for short-term investments, with the objective of minimizing the potential risk of principal loss. In addition, the investment policy limits the amount of credit exposure to any one issuer.

The unrealized losses on the Company's available-for-sale securities were primarily a result of unfavorable changes in interest rates subsequent to the initial purchase of these securities. As of July 31, 2012, the Company owned 16 securities that were in an unrealized loss position. The Company does not intend nor expect to need to sell these securities before recovering the associated unrealized losses. It expects to recover the full carrying value of these securities. As a result, no portion of the unrealized losses at July 31, 2012 is deemed to be other-than-temporary and the unrealized losses are not deemed to be credit losses. No available-for-sale securities have been in an unrealized loss position for 12 months or more. When evaluating the investments for other-than-temporary impairment, the Company reviews factors such as the length of time and extent to which fair value has been below cost basis, the financial condition of the issuer and any changes thereto, and the Company's intent to sell, or whether it is more likely than not it will be required to sell, the investment before recovery of the investment's amortized cost basis. During the three months ended July 31, 2012, the Company did not recognize any impairment charges.

Pandora Media, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements - Continued

4. Fair Value

The Company records cash equivalents and short-term investments at fair value.

Fair value is an exit price, representing the amount that would be received from the sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. Fair value measurements are required to be disclosed by level within the following fair value hierarchy:

Level 1 — Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

Level 2 — Inputs (other than quoted prices included in Level 1) are either directly or indirectly observable for the asset or liability through correlation with market data at the measurement date and for the duration of the instrument's anticipated life.

Level 3 — Inputs lack observable market data to corroborate management's estimate of what market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Consideration is given to the risk inherent in the valuation technique and the risk inherent in the inputs to the model. As of January 31 and July 31, 2012 the Company did not hold any Level 3 assets.

When determining fair value, whenever possible the Company uses observable market data, and relies on unobservable inputs only when observable market data is not available.

The fair value of these financial assets and liabilities was determined using the following inputs at January 31 and July 31, 2012:

	Fair Value Measurement Using						
	Quoted Prices in Active Markets for Identical Instruments (Level 1)			Significant Other Observable Inputs (Level 2) (in thousands)		Total	
Fair values as of January 31, 2012				· ·			
Assets:							
Money market funds	\$	31,614	\$	_	\$	31,614	
Commercial paper		_		30,480		30,480	
Corporate debt securities		_		20,983		20,983	
U.S. agency notes		_		900		900	
Total assets measured at fair value	\$	31,614	\$	52,363	\$	83,977	
Fair values as of July 31, 2012							
Assets:							
Money market funds	\$	31,932	\$	_	\$	31,932	
Commercial paper		_		22,944		22,944	
Corporate debt securities		_		11,814		11,814	
U.S. agency notes		_		2,500		2,500	
Total assets measured at fair value	\$	31,932	\$	37,258	\$	69,190	

The Company's money market funds are classified as Level 1 within the fair value hierarchy because they are valued primarily using quoted market prices. The Company's other cash equivalents and short-term investments are classified as Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy because they are valued using professional pricing sources for identical or comparable instruments, rather than direct observations of quoted prices in active markets.

9

Table of Contents

Pandora Media, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements - Continued

5. Commitments and Contingencies

Legal Proceedings

Pandora has been in the past, and continues to be, a party to privacy and patent infringement litigation which has consumed, and may continue to consume, financial and managerial resources. The Company is also from time to time subject to various other legal proceedings and claims arising in the ordinary course of its business. Management believes that the liabilities associated with these cases, while possible, are not probable, and therefore the Company has not recorded any accrual for these as of January 31, 2012 and July 31, 2012. Further, any possible range of loss cannot be reasonably estimated at this time. The Company does not believe the ultimate resolution of any pending legal matters is likely to have a material adverse effect on its business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In June 2011, a putative class action lawsuit was filed against Pandora in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California alleging that it unlawfully accessed and transmitted personally identifiable information of the plaintiffs in connection with their use of the Company's Android mobile application. In addition to civil liability, the amended complaint includes allegations of violations of statutes under which criminal penalties could be imposed if the Company were found liable. Pandora's motion to dismiss the first amended complaint was filed on March 23, 2012. No hearing date is currently set.

In September 2011, a putative class action lawsuit was filed against Pandora in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California alleging that it violated Michigan's video rental privacy law and consumer protection statute by allowing Pandora listeners' listening history to be visible to the public. Pandora's motion to dismiss the complaint was filed on November 28, 2011. No hearing date is currently set.

In April 2011, Augme Technologies, Inc. filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware against Pandora alleging patent infringement.

The complaint alleges that Pandora infringes an Augme patent and seeks injunctive relief and monetary damages. The parties are currently engaged in pretrial discovery.

The Company currently believes that it has substantial and meritorious defenses to the claims in the lawsuits discussed above and intends to vigorously defend its position.

The outcome of any litigation is inherently uncertain. Based on the Company's current knowledge it believes that the final outcome of the matters discussed above will not likely, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on its business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows; however, in light of the uncertainties involved in such matters, there can be no assurance that the outcome of each case or the costs of litigation, regardless of outcome, will not have a material adverse effect on the Company's business.

Guarantees and Contingencies

The Company is party to certain contractual agreements under which it has agreed to provide indemnifications of varying scope and duration for claims by third parties relating to its intellectual property. Such indemnification provisions are accounted for in accordance with guarantor's accounting and disclosure requirements for guarantees, including indirect guarantees of indebtedness of others. To date, the Company has not incurred, does not anticipate incurring and therefore has not accrued for, any costs related to such indemnification provisions.

10

Table of Contents

Pandora Media, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements - Continued

6. Income Taxes

For the three and six months ended July 31, 2011 the Company recorded income tax expenses of approximately \$21,000 and \$43,000, respectively. For the three months ended July 31, 2012 the Company recorded income tax expenses of approximately \$1,000. For the six months ended July 31, 2012 the Company recorded an income tax benefit of approximately \$5,000. The effective tax rates for the three and six months ended July 31, 2012 were less than one percent based on the estimated tax loss for the fiscal year.

There were no material changes to the unrecognized tax benefits in the three and six months ended July 31, 2012 and the Company does not expect significant changes to unrecognized tax benefits through the end of the fiscal year. Because of the Company's history of tax losses, all years remain open to tax audit.

7. Debt Instruments

On May 13, 2011, the Company entered into a \$30 million credit facility with a syndicate of financial institutions. The amount of borrowings available under the credit facility at any time is based on the Company's monthly accounts receivable balance at such time, and the amounts borrowed are collateralized by the Company's personal property (including such accounts receivable but excluding intellectual property). Under the credit facility, the Company can request up to \$5 million in letters of credit be issued by the financial institutions.

The credit facility contains customary events of default, conditions to borrowing and covenants, including restrictions on the Company's ability to dispose of assets, make acquisitions, incur debt, incur liens and make distributions to stockholders. The credit facility also includes a financial covenant requiring the maintenance of minimum liquidity of at least \$5 million. During the continuance of an event of a default, the lenders may accelerate amounts outstanding, terminate the credit facility and foreclose on all collateral.

As of July 31, 2012, the Company had \$520,000 in letters of credit outstanding and had \$29.48 million of available borrowing capacity under the credit facility. On December 30, 2011, the Company entered into a cash collateral agreement in connection with the issuance of letters of credit which were used to satisfy deposit requirements under facility leases. As of July 31, 2012, the \$520,000 cash collateral was considered to be restricted cash. The amount is included in other assets on the Company's balance sheet.

Total debt issuance costs associated with the credit facility were \$1.0 million, which are being amortized as interest expense over the four-year term of the credit facility agreement. For the three and six months ended July 31, 2012, \$0.1 million and \$0.1 million, respectively, of debt issuance costs were amortized and included in interest expense.

11

Table of Contents

Pandora Media, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements - Continued

8. Stock-based Compensation Plans and Awards

The Company's 2011 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2011 Plan") provides for the issuance of stock options, restricted stock units and other stock-based awards. Each fiscal year, (beginning with the fiscal year that commenced February 1, 2012 and ending with the fiscal year commencing February 1, 2021), the number of shares in the reserve under the 2011 Plan may be increased by the lesser of (x) 10,000,000 shares, (y) 4.0% of the outstanding shares of common stock on the last day of the prior fiscal year or (z) another amount determined by the Company's board of directors. For the fiscal year beginning February 1, 2012, 4.0% of the outstanding shares of common stock as of January 31, 2012 were added to the number of shares in the reserve. The 2011 Plan is scheduled to terminate in 2021, unless the board of directors determines otherwise. The 2011 Plan is administered by the compensation committee of the board of directors of the Company.

Valuation of Awards

The per-share fair value of each stock option was determined on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model using the following assumptions:

	Three Months E July 31,	nded	Six Months Ended July 31,			
	2011	2012	2011	2012		
Expected life (in years)	5.82-6.08	N/A	5.73-7.02	6.67		

Risk-free interest rate	1.70-2.78 %	N/A	1.70-3.30 %	1.52 %
Expected volatility	54 %	N/A	54-57%	57 %
Expected dividend yield	0 %	N/A	0 %	0 %

Stock Options

No stock options were granted during the three months ended July 31, 2012. A summary of stock option activity for the six months ended July 31, 2012 is as follows:

	Options Outstanding Stock Options	Weighted- Average Exercise Price		Aggregate(1) Intrinsic Value
	(in thousa	r share dat	ta)	
Balance as of January 31, 2012	34,810,926	\$ 2.4	3 \$	379,355
Granted	1,350,000	10.6	3	
Exercised	(4,732,848)	0.7	5	
Cancelled	(991,217)	4.6	7	
Balance as of July 31, 2012	30,436,861	\$ 2.9	9 \$	223,993
Equity awards available for grant at July 31, 2012	14,274,993			

Amounts represent the difference between the exercise price and the fair value of common stock at period end for all in the money options outstanding based on the fair value per share of common stock.

12

Table of Contents

Pandora Media, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements - Continued

Restricted Stock Units

The fair value of the restricted stock units ("RSUs") is expensed ratably over the vesting period. RSUs vest annually on a cliff basis over the service period, generally four years.

During the three and six months ended July 31, 2012, the Company recorded stock-based compensation expense related to RSUs of approximately \$2.3 million and \$4.1 million, respectively. As of July 31, 2012, total compensation cost not yet recognized of approximately \$37.4 million related to non-vested RSUs, is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 3.40 years.

The following table summarizes the activities for our RSUs for the six months ended July 31, 2012:

	Number of Shares	Weighted- Average Grant-Date Fair Value
Unvested at January 31, 2012	1,426,975	12.03
Granted	2,265,800	11.76
Vested	(4,200)	17.78
Canceled	(97,733)	12.73
Unvested at July 31, 2012	3,590,842	11.83

Stock Option Awards with Both a Service Period and a Market Condition

On March 22, 2012, Mr. Joseph Kennedy, the Company's Chief Executive Officer, was granted a non-statutory stock option to purchase 800,000 shares of common stock. This option grant to Mr. Kennedy was intended to be in lieu of an annual equity grant for fiscal 2014. This option includes both a service period and a market vesting condition. The stock option will vest if the 60-day trailing volume weighted average price of the Company's common stock exceeds \$21.00 per share, or if there is a sale of the Company for at least \$21.00 per share, in each case prior to July 6, 2017. If the market condition is met, the performance option will vest ratably over four years, beginning on July 6, 2013, subject to severance and change of control acceleration. To the extent that the market condition is not met, the option will not vest and will be cancelled. The Company used a binomial model to value the option with a market condition. The Company used Monte Carlo simulation techniques that incorporate assumptions as provided by management for the term of option from grant date (in years), risk-free interest rate, stock price volatility and beginning stock price. The Company does not adjust compensation cost recognition for subsequent changes in the expected outcome of the market-vesting conditions.

The following assumptions were used to value the grant using the Monte-Carlo simulation option pricing model: 10-year term, risk-free interest rate of 2.33%, expected volatility of 70% and a beginning stock price of \$10.63. The grant-date fair value for the option was \$6.08. As of July 31, 2012, the remaining unrecognized compensation expense of approximately \$4.3 million related to this grant is expected to be recognized over a period of 4.9 years.

Stock-based Compensation Expenses

The weighted-average fair value of stock option grants was \$8.58 and \$4.50 for the three and six months ended July 31, 2011, respectively and \$6.02 for the six months ended July 31, 2012. No stock options were granted during the three months ended July 31, 2012. As of July 31, 2012, total compensation cost related to stock options granted, but not yet recognized, was approximately \$40.5 million which the Company expects to recognize over a weighted-average period of approximately 2.5 years.

The total grant date fair value of stock options vested during the three and six months ended July 31, 2011was \$1.1 million and \$1.8 million, respectively. For the three and six months ended July 31, 2012 the total grant date fair value of stock options vested was \$4.6 million and \$8.0 million, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of all options and warrants exercised during the three and six months ended July 31, 2011 was \$23.2 million and \$27.5 million, respectively. For the three and six months ended July 31, 2012 the aggregate intrinsic value of all options and warrants exercised was \$19.2 million and \$51.6 million, respectively.

Stock-based compensation expenses related to all employee and non-employee stock-based awards was as follows (in thousands):

Three Moi	nths Ended	Six Months Ended				
July	31,	July 31,				
2011	2012	2011	2012			

				-		-			
	 (unau	dited)	_	(unaudited)					
Stock-based compensation expenses:									
Cost of revenue - Other	\$ 148	\$	304	\$	212	\$	567		
Product development	413		1,185		590		2,171		
Marketing and sales	1,079		2,738		1,502		5,668		
General and administrative	 488		1,810		760		3,131		
Total stock-based compensation, recorded in costs and									
expenses	\$ 2,128	\$	6,037	\$	3,064	\$	11,537		

13

Table of Contents

Pandora Media, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements - Continued

9. Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period.

Diluted net income per share is computed by giving effect to all potential shares of common stock, including stock options, restricted stock units, convertible preferred stock warrants and redeemable convertible preferred stock, to the extent dilutive. Basic and diluted net loss per share was the same for the three months and six months ended July 31, 2011 and 2012 as the inclusion of all potential common shares outstanding would have been anti-dilutive.

The following table sets forth the computation of historical basic and diluted net loss per share (in thousands except per share amounts):

		Three Mon July		d	Six Months Ended July 31,				
		2011	2012			2011	2012		
Numerator	-		_					,	
Net loss	C	(1,812)	\$	(5,415)	¢	(8,566)	\$	(25,643)	
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock	Ф	(40)	Þ	(3,413)	\$	(110)	Þ	(23,043)	
Increase in cumulative dividends payable upon conversion or liquidation of redeemable convertible preferred stock Net loss attributable to common stockholders	\$	(1,328) (3,180)	\$	(5,415)	\$	(3,648) (12,324)	\$	(25,643)	
Denominator									
Weighted-average common shares outstanding used in computing basic and diluted net loss per share		82,389		167,429		49,204		166,428	
Net loss per share, basic and diluted	\$	(0.04)	\$	(0.03)	\$	(0.25)	\$	(0.15)	

For the three and six months ended July 31, 2011 net loss was increased by the cumulative dividends payable upon conversion or liquidation of redeemable convertible preferred shares earned during the three and six months ended July 31, 2011 through the conversion at the close of the IPO in June 2011.

The following potential common shares outstanding were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share because including them would have been anti-dilutive (in thousands):

	As of July 3	As of July 31,			
	2011	2012			
Options to purchase common stock	36,894	30,437			
Warrants to purchase common stock	155	_			
Restricted stock units	_	3,591			
Total common stock equivalents	37,049	34,028			

14

Table of Contents

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations in conjunction with the condensed consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2012 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"). All references herein to a fiscal year refer to the 12 months ended January 31 of such year, and references to the first, second, third and fourth fiscal quarters refer to the three months ended April 30, July 31, October 31 and January 31, respectively.

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains "forward-looking statements" that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. The statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that are not purely historical are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), and Section 21E of the Exchange Act, including, but not limited to, statements regarding our expectations, beliefs, intentions, strategies, future operations, future financial position, future revenue, projected expenses and plans and objectives of management. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terms such as "anticipate," "believe," "estimate," "expect," "intend," "may," "might," "project," "will," "would," "should," "could," "can," "predict," "potential," "continue," "objective," or the negative of these terms, and similar expressions intended to identify forward-looking statements. However, not all forward-looking statements contain these identifying words. These forward-looking statements reflect our current views about future events and involve known risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievement to be materially different from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements.

Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those identified below, and those discussed in the section titled "Risk Factors" included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2012. Furthermore, such forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this report. Except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of such statements. We qualify all of our forward-looking statements by these cautionary statements. These and other factors could cause our results to differ materially from those expressed in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Some of the industry and market data contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are based on independent industry publications, including those generated by Triton Digital Media or ("Triton") or other publicly available information. This information involves a number of assumptions and limitations. Although we believe that each source is reliable as of its respective date, we have not independently verified the accuracy or completeness of this information.

As used herein, "Pandora," the "Company," "we," "our," and similar terms refer to Pandora Media, Inc., unless the context indicates otherwise.

"Pandora" and other trademarks of ours appearing in this report are our property. This report may contain additional trade names and trademarks of other companies. We do not intend our use or display of other companies' trade names or trademarks to imply an endorsement or sponsorship of us by such companies, or any relationship with any of these companies.

Overview

Pandora is the leader in internet radio in the United States, offering a personalized experience for each of our listeners. We have pioneered a new form of radio — one that uses intrinsic qualities of music to initially create stations and then adapts playlists in real-time based on the individual feedback of each listener. As of July 31, 2012, we had approximately 150 million registered users, which we define as the total number of accounts that have been created for our service at period end. As of July 31, 2012 approximately 100 million registered users have accessed Pandora through smartphones and tablets. For the three months ended July 31, 2012, we streamed 3.30 billion hours of radio and as of July 31, 2012, we had 54.9 million active users during the prior 30 day period. According to a June 2012 report by Triton, we have more than a 70% share of internet radio among the top 20 stations and networks in the United States. Since we launched our free, advertising-supported radio service in 2005 our listeners have created over 3.2 billion stations.

Since we started the Music Genome Project in 2000, we have continuously built our song catalog, refined the genotyping model and developed proprietary algorithms for building personalized playlists for our listeners based both on our analysis and feedback data from our listeners.

Our comedy service leverages similar technology to the technology underlying the Music Genome Project, allowing a listener to choose a favorite comedian or a genre as a seed to start a station and then give feedback to personalize that station.

The mobile version of our Pandora service, the Pandora app, is available for smartphones including the iPhone, Android and Blackberry phones, and for tablets including the iPad, Android tablets and Blackberry Playbook.

15

Table of Contents

One key element of our strategy is to make the Pandora service available everywhere that there is internet connectivity. To this end, we partner with manufacturers of home entertainment systems and other consumer electronics products to integrate the Pandora service with their products. We also develop relationships with major automobile manufacturers and their suppliers to integrate the Pandora service with automobiles. We are currently available on models of BMW, Buick, Chevrolet, Ford, GMC, Honda, Hyundai, Lexus, Lincoln, Mercedes-Benz, MINI, Scion and Toyota. Additionally, Acura, Cadillac, Kia, Mazda, Nissan and Suzuki have publicly announced their plans for future Pandora integrations.

In June 2012, we entered into or reactivated agreements which allow Pandora to launch in New Zealand, Australia and the territories associated with the two countries. These arrangements with PPNZ Music Licensing Limited, which represents recording artists and record companies, and activated with APRA/AMCOS, which represents songwriters, composers and publishers have not had a material effect on our results of operations to date.

Business Model

We derive the substantial majority of our revenue from the sale of display, audio and video advertising for delivery across our traditional computer-based, mobile and other connected device platforms. We also offer a paid subscription service which we call Pandora One. While historically our revenue growth was principally attributable to selling display advertising through our traditional computer-based platform, the rapid adoption of our service on mobile and other connected devices is changing this mix. This expansion of our services also presents an opportunity for us to reach our listeners anytime, anywhere they enjoy music, and therefore offer additional distribution channels to current and potential advertisers for delivery of their advertising messages.

Growth in our active users and distribution platforms has fueled a corresponding growth in listener hours. Our total number of listener hours is a key driver for both revenue generation opportunities and content acquisition expenses, which are the largest component of total costs.

- Revenue. Listener hours define the number of opportunities we have to sell advertisements, which we refer to as inventory. Our ability to attract advertisers depends in large part on our ability to offer sufficient inventory within desired demographics. In turn, our ability to generate revenue depends on the extent to which we are able to sell the inventory we have.
- · Cost of Revenue Content Acquisition Costs. Listener hours drive substantially all of our content acquisition costs, although certain of our licensing agreements require us to pay fees for public performances based on a percentage of revenue.

With respect to each sound recording streamed to each listener, we pay royalties to the copyright owners both of sound recordings and of the underlying musical works, subject to certain exclusions, and we record these royalties as content acquisition costs. Under U.S. law, we are guaranteed the right to stream any lawfully released sound recordings. Royalties for sound recordings are negotiated with and paid through SoundExchange. Royalties for musical works are negotiated with and paid through publishing companies such as Entertainment World Inc. or EMI; or performance rights organizations such as the American Society of Composers, Authors and Publishers, or ASCAP; Broadcast Music, Inc., or BMI; and SESAC Inc. or SESAC. Royalties are calculated using negotiated rates documented in master royalty agreements and based on sound recordings streamed, revenue earned or other usage measures. If we cannot agree on royalty rates, the dispute will be resolved by the Copyright Royalty Board, or CRB, in the case of SoundExchange, and by the rate court in the case of ASCAP and BMI. In May 2011, we started streaming spoken word comedy content, for which the underlying literary works are not currently entitled to eligibility for licensing by any performing rights organization for the United States. Rather, pursuant to industry-wide custom and practice, this content is performed absent a specific license from any such performing rights organization, however we pay royalties to SoundExchange at federally negotiated rates for the right to stream this spoken word comedy content.

Given the royalty structures in effect with respect to the public performance of sound recordings in the United States, our content acquisition costs increase with each additional listener hour, regardless of whether we are able to generate more revenue. As such, our ability to achieve and sustain profitability and operating leverage depends on our ability to increase our revenue per hour of streaming through increased advertising sales across all of our delivery platforms. To date, we have not been able to generate additional revenue from our advertising products as rapidly as we have been able to grow our listener hours on mobile and other connected devices, which have experienced significant growth.

Table of Contents

As our mobile listenership increases, we face new challenges in optimizing our advertising products for delivery on mobile and other connected device platforms and monetizing inventory generated by listeners using these platforms. The mobile digital advertising market is nascent, with lower overall spending levels than traditional online advertising markets, and faces technical challenges due to fragmented platforms and lack of standard audience measurement protocols.

In addition, our strategy includes increasing the number of ad campaigns for traditional computer, mobile and other connected device platforms sold to local advertisers, placing us in more direct competition with broadcast radio for advertiser spending, especially for audio advertisements. By contrast, historically our display advertisers have been predominantly national brands. To successfully monetize our growing listener hours, we may have to convince a substantial base of local advertisers of the benefits of advertising on the Pandora service including demonstrating the effectiveness and relevance of our advertising products across the range of our delivery platforms.

In fiscal 2011 and 2012, we substantially increased our expenditures for product development, marketing and sales and general and administrative expenses to generate growth and provide support infrastructure for that anticipated growth. We expect increased levels of operating expenses into the future.

Our total revenue has grown from \$67.0 million and \$118.0 million in the three and six months ended July 31, 2011, respectively, to \$101.3 million and \$182.1 million in the three and six months ended July 31, 2012, respectively. At the same time, our total costs and expenses have grown from \$65.5 million and \$121.7 million in the three and six months ended July 31, 2011, respectively, to \$106.6 and \$207.5 million in the three and six months ended July 31, 2012, respectively, principally as a result of the growth in content acquisition costs. As the volume of music we stream to listeners in the United States increases, our content acquisition costs will also increase, regardless of whether we are able to generate more revenue. In addition, we expect to invest heavily in our operations to support anticipated future growth. One of our key objectives is furthering our market leadership in internet radio, which we believe will strengthen our brand and help us to convince advertisers to allocate spending towards our ad products. As such, a central focus is adding, retaining and engaging listeners to build market share and grow our listener hours. For the foreseeable future, we expect that there will be periods during which our ability to monetize listener hours will lag the growth in listener hours. While in the long-term, to the extent our business matures and our market leadership becomes more comprehensive, we expect that the growth rate in our listener hours will decline relative to our increased ability to monetize listener hours, we do not expect to be profitable on an annual basis in the near term.

Key Metrics:

	Three Months July 31,	Ended	Six Months End July 31,	ed	
	2011	2012	2011	2012	
Listener hours (in billions)	1.83	3.30	3.45	6.39	
		As of January 31, 2012	As of July 31, 2012		
Active users (end of period, in millions)		47.6	54.9		

Advertising revenue per thousand listener hours

	Trailing Twelve Months Ended July 31,(1)				 Three Months Ended July 31,					Six Months Ended July 31,			
		2011		2012	2011			2012		2011		2012	
Total	\$	33.6	\$	29.2	\$	35.3	\$	29.5	\$	32.8	\$	27.2	
Traditional computer		65.2		56.9		69.9		57.1		62.2		51.6	
Mobile and other connected devices		18.7		20.4		23.7		22.2		21.4		20.2	

(1) Trailing twelve months measure ad RPMs over the periods from August 1, 2010 to July 31, 2011 and from August 1, 2011 to July 31, 2012.

Listener Hours. We track listener hours because it is a key indicator of the growth of our business. We also track the number of active users as an additional indicator of the breadth of audience we are reaching at a given time, which is particularly important to potential advertisers.

17

Table of Contents

We calculate listener hours based on the total bytes served for each track that is requested and served from our servers, as measured by our internal analytics systems, whether or not a listener listens to the entire track. We believe this server-based approach is the best methodology to forecast advertising inventory given that advertisements are frequently served in between tracks and are often served upon triggers such as a listener clicking thumbs-down or choosing to skip a track. To the extent that third-party measurements of listener hours are not calculated using a similar server-based approach, the third-party measurements may differ from our measurements.

Active Users. Active users are defined as the number of distinct registered users that have requested audio from our servers within the trailing 30 days to the end of the final calendar month of the period. The number of active users may overstate the number of unique individuals who actively use our service within a month as one individual may register for, and use, multiple accounts.

Ad RPMs. We track advertising revenue per thousand listener hours for our free, advertising supported service ("ad RPMs") because it is a key indicator of our ability to monetize advertising inventory created by our listener hours. We focus on total ad RPMs across all of our delivery platforms. RPMs compare advertising revenue generated in a given period to advertising supported listener hours in the period, calculated on a trailing twelve months basis and we believe such total ad RPMs to be the central top-line indicator for evaluating the results of our monetization efforts. We calculate total ad RPMs by dividing advertising revenue we generate by the number of thousands of listener hours of our advertising-based service.

We also provide estimates of disaggregated total and ad RPMs for our traditional computer platform as well as our mobile and other connected devices platforms, which we calculate by dividing the estimated advertising revenue generated through the respective platforms by the number of thousands of listener hours of our advertising-based service delivered through such platforms. While we believe that such disaggregated RPMs provide directional insight for evaluating our efforts to monetize our service by platform, we do not validate disaggregated RPMs to the level of financial statement reporting. Such metrics should be seen as indicative only and as management's best estimate. We continue to refine our systems and methodologies used to categorize RPMs across our delivery platforms. Period-to-period results should not be regarded as precise nor can they be relied upon as indicative of results for future periods. In addition, as our business matures and in response to technological evolutions, we anticipate

that the relevant indicators we monitor for evaluating our business may change.

Total ad RPMs over the trailing twelve months ended July 31, 2012 and the three and six months ended July 31, 2012decreased compared to the respective prior year periods due to the continuing shift in the platform mix between traditional computer and mobile and other connected devices as well as an increase in listener hours, in part the result of the effective elimination of the 40 hour per month free listening cap on traditional computers in September 2011 which created increased advertising inventory not fully offset by advertising sales.

Traditional computer ad RPMs over the trailing twelve months ended July 31, 2012 and in the three and six month periods ended July 31, 2012 decreased compared to the respective prior year periods, primarily due to listener hours growing at a faster pace than revenue due in part to the effective elimination of the 40 hour per month free listening cap which created increased listener hours not fully offset by increased advertising sales.

Mobile and other connected device ad RPMs over the trailing twelve months ended July 31, 2012 increased to approximately \$20.4 from approximately \$18.7 over the twelve months ended July 31, 2011 primarily due to mobile and connected device revenue growing at a faster pace than listening hours driven by our continued focus on monetizing our mobile inventory including the introduction of new advertising products for these devices.

Mobile and other connected device ad RPMs decreased to approximately \$22.2 and \$20.2 from approximately \$23.7 and \$21.4 in the three and six months ended July 31, 2012, compared to the three and six months ended July 31, 2011, respectively, primarily due to listener hours growing at a faster pace than revenue as well as the fact that the three and six month periods ended July 31, 2011 include revenue from one advertiser that accounted for 16% and 14%, respectively, of total revenue through premium sales.

Although we monitor RPM to evaluate our business, to provide additional context regarding the factors driving this ratio, total advertising revenue increased by approximately 69% during the trailing twelve months ended July 31, 2012, with advertising revenue on mobile and other connected devices increasing by approximately 138% and advertising revenue on traditional computers increasing by approximately 27%. Total advertising revenue increased by 53% and 57% during the three and six months ended July 31, 2012, compared to the prior year periods, with advertising revenue on mobile and other connected devices increasing by approximately 81% and 92% respectively, and advertising revenue on traditional computers increasing by approximately 25% and 26% respectively.

18

Table of Contents

In addition to ad RPMs, we also track total RPMs, which measures total revenue, including both advertising and subscription services and other revenue, compared to total listener hours. We calculate total RPMs by dividing the estimated total revenue generated through the respective platforms by the total number of thousands of listener hours delivered through such platforms. While we believe that such disaggregated total RPMs provide directional insight for evaluating our efforts to monetize our service by platform, we do not validate disaggregated total RPMs to the level of financial statement reporting. Such metrics should be seen as indicative only and as management's best estimate. Total RPMs over the trailing twelve months ended July 31, 2012 decreased to approximately \$30.3 from approximately \$34.9 over the trailing twelve months ended July 31, 2011. Within this, mobile and other connected device total RPMs increased to approximately \$21.5 from \$19.8 and traditional computer total RPMs decreased to \$54.0 from \$61.3 over this same period. These changes were driven by the same factors mentioned above within the discussion of ad RPMs.

Basis of Presentation

Revenue

Advertising Revenue. We generate advertising revenue primarily from display, audio and video advertising, which is typically sold on a cost-per-thousand impressions, or CPM, basis. Advertising campaigns typically range from one to 12 months, and advertisers generally pay us based on a minimum number of impressions delivered or the satisfaction of other criteria, such as click-throughs. We may earn referral revenue when, for example, a listener clicks on an advertisement and signs up for membership with an advertiser. We also have arrangements with advertising agencies and brokers pursuant to which we provide the ability to sell advertising inventory on our service directly to advertisers. We report revenue under these arrangements net of amounts due to agencies and brokers.

For the three months ended July 31, 2011 and 2012, respectively, advertising revenue accounted for 87% and 88% of our total revenue. For the six months ended July 31, 2011 and 2012, respectively, advertising revenue accounted for 86% and 88% of our total revenue. We expect that advertising will comprise a substantial majority of revenue for the foreseeable future.

Subscription Services and Other Revenue. We generate subscription revenue through the sale and activation of access to a premium version of the Pandora service for \$36 per year or, on some devices, \$4 per month, which currently includes an ad free environment and, on devices that support it, higher quality audio. We receive the full amount of the subscription payment, net of any applicable commissions and processing fees at the time of sale; however, subscription revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the subscription period. For the three months ended July 31, 2011 and 2012, subscription services and other revenue accounted for 13% and 12%, respectively, of our total revenue. For the six months ended July 31, 2011 and 2012, subscription services and other revenue accounted for 14% and 12%, respectively, of our total revenue.

Deferred Revenue. Our deferred revenue consists principally of both prepaid but unrecognized subscription revenue and advertising fees received or billed in advance of the delivery or completion of the delivery of services. Deferred revenue is recognized as revenue when the services are provided and all other revenue recognition criteria have been met.

Costs and Expenses

Costs and expenses consist of cost of revenue-content acquisition costs, costs of revenue-other, product development, marketing and sales, general and administrative. Content acquisition costs are the most significant component of our costs and expenses followed by employee-related costs, which includes stock-based compensation expenses. We expect to continue to hire employees in order to support our anticipated growth. In any particular period, the timing of additional hires could materially affect our operating expenses, both in absolute dollars and as a percentage of revenue. We anticipate that our costs and expenses will increase in the future.

Cost of Revenue - Content Acquisition Costs. Cost of Revenue - Content acquisition costs principally consist of royalties payable for streaming music or other content to our listeners. Royalties are calculated using negotiated rates documented in master royalty agreements and are based on both percentage of revenue and listener metrics. The majority of our royalties are payable based on a fee per track, while in other cases our royalties are payable based on a percentage of our revenue.

We periodically test our royalty calculation methods to ensure we are accurately reporting and paying royalties. Publishing companies such as EMI Entertainment World, Inc., ("EMI"), and the performance rights organizations have the right to audit our playlist and payment records, and any such audit could result in disputes over whether we have paid the proper royalties. If such a dispute were to occur, we could be required to pay additional royalties, and the amounts involved could be material.

For royalty arrangements under negotiation, we accrue for estimated royalties based on the available facts and circumstances and adjust these estimates as more information becomes available. The results of any finalized negotiation may be materially different from our estimates.

In 2009 we, together with other webcasters, negotiated new royalty rates for performances with SoundExchange for calendar years 2006 to 2015. The agreement reduced rates originally established by the Copyright Royalty Board for calendar years 2006 to 2010 and established new rates for calendar years 2011 to 2015.

Cost of Revenue - Other. Cost of revenue - Other consists of hosting costs, infrastructure and the employee and employee-related costs associated with supporting those functions. Hosting costs consist of content streaming, maintaining our internet radio service and creating and serving advertisements through third-party ad servers. Infrastructure costs consist of equipment, software, facilities and depreciation. We make payments to third-party ad servers for the period the advertising impressions or click-through actions are delivered or occur, and accordingly, we record this as a cost of revenue in the related period.

Product Development. Product development expenses consist of employee compensation, information technology, consulting, facilities-related expenses and costs associated with supporting consumer connected-device manufacturers in implementing our service in their products. We incur product development expenses primarily for improvements to our website and the Pandora app, development of new advertising products and development and enhancement of our personalized station(s) generating system. We have generally expensed product development as incurred. Certain website development and internal use software development costs may be capitalized when specific criteria are met. In such cases, the capitalized amounts are amortized over the useful life of the related application once the application is placed in service. We intend to continue making significant investments in developing new products and enhancing the functionality of our existing products.

Marketing and Sales. Marketing and sales expenses consist of employee and employee-related costs including salaries, commissions and benefits related to employees in sales, marketing and advertising departments. In addition, marketing and sales expenses include external sales and marketing expenses such as third-party marketing, branding, advertising and public relations expenses, and infrastructure costs such as facility and other supporting overhead costs. We expect marketing and sales expenses to increase as we hire additional personnel to build out our sales force and ad operations team and expand our business development team to establish relationships with manufacturers of an increasing number of connected devices.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses include employee and employee-related costs consisting of salaries and benefits for finance, accounting, legal, internal information technology and other administrative personnel. In addition, general and administrative expenses include professional services costs for outside legal and accounting services, and infrastructure costs for facility, supporting overhead costs and merchant and other transaction costs, such as credit card fees. We expect to incur additional expenses in future periods as we continue to invest in corporate infrastructure, including adding personnel and systems to our finance and administrative functions.

Provision for Income Taxes. Since our inception, we have been subject to income taxes only in the United States. Now that we have begun to expand our operations outside the United States, we will become subject to taxation based on the foreign statutory rates and our effective tax rate could fluctuate accordingly.

Income taxes are computed using the asset and liability method, under which deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted statutory income tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce net deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized.

20

Table of Contents

Results of Operations

The following table presents our results of operations for the periods indicated as a percentage of total revenue. The period-to-period comparisons of results are not necessarily indicative of results for future periods.

	Three Months En July 31,	nded	Six Months End- July 31,	ed	
	2011(2)	2012(2)	2011(2)	2012(2)	
	(unaudited)		(unaudited)		
Revenue:					
Advertising	87%	88 %	86%	88 %	
Subscription services and other	13	12	14	12	
Total revenue	100	100	100	100	
Costs and expenses:					
Cost of revenue — Content acquisition costs	50	60	53	64	
Cost of revenue — Other(1)	8	7	8	8	
Product development(1)	5	4	5	5	
Marketing and sales(1)	22	23	23	26	
General and administrative(1)	13	10	13	12	
Total costs and expenses	98	105	103	114	
Income (loss) from operations	1	(5)	(3)	(14)	
Other income (expense):		· /	` ′	· ´	
Interest income	_	_	_	_	
Interest expense	_	_	_	_	
Other expense, net	(4)	_	(4)	_	
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes	(3)	(5)	(7)	(14)	
Provision for income taxes	_	_			
Net income (loss)	(3)%	(5)%	(7)%	(14)%	

(1) Includes stock-based compensation as follows:

Cost of revenue - Other	0.2 %	0.3 %	0.2%	0.3 %
Product development	0.6	1.2	0.5	1.2
Marketing and sales	1.6	2.7	1.3	3.1
General and administrative	0.7	1.8	0.6	1.7

(2) Amounts may not sum due to rounding

			Ionths Endeduly 31,	i				Six Mont July				
	2	011	2	2012	\$ (Change		2011		2012	\$ C	hange
	·		(in th	ousands)					(in th	ousands)		
Advertising	\$	58,25	8 \$	89,384	\$	31,126	\$	101,919	\$	159,981	\$	58,062
Subscription services and other		8,70	8	11,883		3,175		16,087		22,070		5,983
Total revenue	\$	66,96	<u>\$</u>	101,267	\$	34,301		118,006		182,051		64,045
	Trailing Twelve		Ended			nths Ended y 31,				ths Ended y 31,		
	 2011		2012	201	11	201	2	201	1	201	2	
Total ad RPMs	\$ 33.3	\$	29.2	\$	35.3	\$	29.5	\$	32.8	\$	27.2	
				21								

Table of Contents

Three months ended 2011 compared to 2012. Advertising revenue increased \$31.1 million or approximately 54% in the three months ended July 31, 2012, primarily due to an approximate 112% increase in the number of ads delivered, partially offset by a decrease in the average price per ad of approximately 27% due to fluctuations in the sales distribution mix amongst, direct sales, third-party network sales, and other channels and the platform mix between traditional computer and mobile and other connected devices. The increase in the number of ads delivered was primarily due to an increase in total listener hours of approximately 80% which increased the volume of advertising inventory as well as an increase in our sales force by approximately 80% year-over-year to sell such advertising inventory. Subscription revenue increased \$3.2 million due to an increase in the number of subscribers.

Six months ended 2011 compared to 2012. Advertising revenue increased \$58.1 million or approximately 57% in the six months ended July 31, 2012, primarily due to an approximate 103% increase in the number of ads delivered, partially offset by the aforementioned decrease in the average price per ad of approximately 23% due to fluctuations in the sales distribution mix amongst, direct sales, third-party network sales, and other channels and the platform mix between traditional computer and mobile and other connected devices. The increase in the number of ads delivered was primarily due to an increase in total listener hours of approximately 85% which increased the volume of advertising inventory, as well as an increase in our sales force by approximately 80% year-over-year to sell such advertising inventory. Subscription revenue increased \$6.0 million due to an increase in the number of subscribers.

Total ad RPMs over the trailing twelve months ended July 31, 2012 and three and six months ended July 31, 2012 decreased compared to the respective prior year periods primarily due to listener hours growing at a faster pace than revenue, in part the result of the effective elimination of the 40 hour per month free listening cap on traditional computers in September 2011 which created increased advertising inventory not fully offset by advertising sales, as well as a lower percentage of advertising inventory being sold directly to advertisers by Pandora's sales team during the period ending July 31, 2012. This decrease in the percentage of advertising inventory being sold directly to advertisers by Pandora's sales team was due in part to the fact that the three and six month periods ended July 31, 2011 included direct sales revenue from one advertiser that accounted for 16% and 14% respectively, of total revenue.

Costs and Expenses

Cost of Revenue - Content acquisition costs

	Three Mor	ded		Six Months Ended							
	July 31,						July 31,				
	 2011	2012		\$ Change		2011	\$ Change				
	(in thousands)							(in t	housands)		
Cost of Revenue - Content acquisition costs	\$ 33.723 \$ 60.522			\$	26.799	\$	62.881	\$	116.340	\$	53,459

The following table presents our estimated content acquisition costs for our advertising-based service attributable to our traditional computer platform and our mobile and other connected devices platforms as percentages of the estimated advertising revenue attributable to such platforms.

	Three Months	Ended	Six Months I	Ended		
	July 31,		July 31,			
	2011	2012	2011	2012		
Traditional computer	25 %	32 %	27 %	35%		
Mobile and other connected devices	72 %	77 %	79 %	85%		

The majority of our royalties are payable based on a fee per track, while in other cases our royalties are payable based on a percentage of our revenue. We estimate our advertising-based content acquisition costs attributable to specific platforms by allocating costs from royalties payable based on a fee per track to the platform for which the track is served and by allocating costs from royalties based on a percentage of our revenue in accordance with the overall percentage of our revenue estimated to be attributable to such platforms. While we believe that comparing disaggregated content acquisition costs and revenues across our delivery platforms may provide directional insight for evaluating our efforts to monetize the rapid adoption of our service on mobile and other connected devices, we do not validate such disaggregated metrics to the level of financial statement reporting. We continue to refine our systems and methodologies used to categorize such metrics across our delivery platforms and the period-to-period comparisons of results are not necessarily indicative of results for future periods.

22

Table of Contents

Three months ended 2011 compared to 2012. Content acquisition costs increased \$26.8 million due to increased royalty payments driven by increased listener hours and higher royalty rates due to scheduled rate increases and higher revenue. Content acquisition costs as a percentage of total revenue increased from 50% to 60%, primarily due to the growth in listener hours on mobile devices for which we have not been able to as effectively generate revenue as compared to listener hours on traditional computers and to the rate increases. Estimated content acquisition costs as a percentage of the revenue attributable to our traditional computer platform increased from 25% to 32%, primarily due to the effective elimination of the 40 hour per month free listening cap on traditional computers, which created increased listener hours not fully offset by increased advertising sales, as well as the rate increases. Estimated content acquisition costs as a percentage of the revenue attributable to our mobile and other connected devices platforms increased from 72% to 77%, primarily due to an increase in listener hours on these platforms not fully offset by increased advertising sales, as well as the three months ending July 31, 2011 including revenue from one advertiser that accounted for 16% of total revenue made through premium sales.

Six months ended 2011 compared to 2012. Content acquisition costs increased \$53.5 million due to increased royalty payments driven by increased listener hours and higher royalty rates due to scheduled rate increases and higher revenue. Content acquisition costs as a percentage of total revenue increased from 53% to 64%, primarily due to the growth in listener hours on mobile devices for which we have not been able to as effectively generate revenue as compared to listener hours on traditional computers.

Estimated content acquisition costs as a percentage of the revenue attributable to our traditional computer platform increased from 27% to 35%, primarily due to the effective elimination of the 40 hour per month free listening cap on traditional computers, which created increased listener hours not fully offset by increased advertising sales. Estimated content acquisition costs as a percentage of the revenue attributable to our mobile and other connected devices platforms increased from 79% to 85%, primarily due to an increase in listener hours on these platforms not fully offset by increased advertising sales, as well as the six months ended July 31, 2011 including revenue from one advertiser that accounted for 14 % of total revenue made through premium sales.

Cost of Revenue - Other

		Three Mor	led		Six Months Ended									
		July 31,						July						
	2	2011 2012				\$ Change	2011 2012					\$ Change		
	·		thousands)					(in	thousands)					
Cost of revenue — Other	\$	5,460	\$	7,514	\$	2,054	\$	9,820	\$	14,431	\$	4,611		

Three months ended 2011 compared to 2012. Cost of revenue increased \$2.1 million primarily due to a \$0.9 million increase in hosting services costs as a result of an 80% increase in listener hours, \$0.4 million higher employee-related expenses driven primarily by a 24% increase in period ending headcount and \$0.6 million due to higher infrastructure costs.

Six months ended 2011 compared to 2012. Cost of revenue increased \$4.6 million primarily due to a \$1.8 million increase in hosting services costs as a result of an 85% increase in listener hours, \$1.2 million higher employee-related expenses driven primarily by a 24% increase in period ending headcount and \$1.3 million due to higher infrastructure costs.

Product Development

		Three Months Ended						Six Montl				
		July 31,					July 31,					
		2011	201	2		\$ Change		2011		2012		\$ Change
	·	(in thousands)							(in tl	nousands)	-	
Product development	\$	3,426	\$	4,475	\$	1,049	\$	6,157	\$	8,594	\$	2,437

Three months ended 2011 compared to 2012. Product development expenses increased \$1.0 million primarily due to \$1.2 million higher employee-related expenses driven by a 14% increase in period ending headcount.

Six months ended 2011 compared to 2012. Product development expenses increased \$2.4 million primarily due to \$2.7 million higher employee-related expenses driven by a 14% increase in period ending headcount, partially offset by lower professional services fees.

Marketing and Sales

		Three Mor July		ded			Six Montl July		ed		
	2	2011 2012			\$ Change	2011			2012		\$ Change
			(in	thousands)				(in	thousands)		<u> </u>
Marketing and sales	\$	14,502	\$	23,457	\$ 8,955	\$	27,466	\$	46,917	\$	19,451
				23							

Table of Contents

Three months ended 2011 compared to 2012. Marketing and sales expenses increased \$9.0 million primarily due to an \$7.1 million increase in employee-related expenses driven by a 49% increase in period ending headcount along with an increase in external sales and marketing expenses of \$1.1 million related to marketing events and marketing research and a \$0.6 million increase in infrastructure costs.

Six months ended 2011 compared to 2012. Marketing and sales expenses increased \$19.5 million primarily due to a \$15.7 million increase in employee-related expenses driven by a 49% increase in period ending headcount along with a \$2.3 million increase in external sales and marketing expenses related to marketing events and marketing research and a \$1.3 million increase in infrastructure costs.

General and Administrative

		Three Months Ended						Six Months Ended						
		July	31,				July 31,							
	2	2011	2	012		\$ Change		2011		2012		\$ Change		
		(in thousands)							(in t	housands)		<u>.</u>		
General and administrative	\$	8,410	\$	10,602	\$	2,192	\$	15,353	\$	21,214	\$	5,861		

Three months ended 2011 compared to 2012. General and administrative expenses increased \$2.2 million which was attributable to a 34% increase in period ending headcount. Higher infrastructure costs were offset by lower professional services fees.

Six months ended 2011 compared to 2012. General and administrative expenses increased \$5.9 million primarily due to a \$4.6 million increase in employee-related expenses driven by a 34% increase in period ending headcount and a \$0.6 million increase in professional services fees.

Other Income (Expense)

	Three Months Ended July 31,					Six Months Ended July 31,					
		2011 2012				\$ Change 2011			2012		\$ Change
			(i	n thousands)					(in	thousands)	
Interest income	\$	1	\$	25	\$	24	\$	3	\$	57	\$ 54
Interest expense		(261)		(136)		125		(370)		(260)	110
Other income (expense)		(2,976)		_		2,976		(4,485)		_	4,485
Total other expense	\$	(3,236)	\$	(111)	\$	3,125	\$	(4,852)	\$	(203)	\$ 4,649

Three months ended 2011 compared to 2012. Total other expenses decreased \$3.1 million due to the absence in the 2012 period of expenses related to the remeasurement of the fair value of our preferred stock warrants which were exercised and converted to shares of common stock or converted into warrants for shares of common stock upon the closing of our IPO on June 20, 2011.

Six months ended 2011 compared to 2012. Total other expenses decreased \$4.6 million due to the absence in the 2012 period of expenses related to the remeasurement of the fair value of our preferred stock warrants which were exercised and converted to shares of common stock or converted into warrants for shares of common stock upon the closing of our IPO on June 20, 2011.

Provision for Income Taxes

Three months ended 2011 compared to 2012. For the three months ended July 31, 2011 and 2012 the Company recorded income tax expenses of approximately \$21,000 and \$1,000, respectively. The difference was primarily driven by changes in state tax statutes which resulted in lower tax obligations in some states.

Six months ended 2011 compared to 2012. For the six months ended July 31, 2011 the Company recorded income tax expenses of approximately \$43,000 compared to an income tax benefit of approximately \$5,000 recorded in the six months ended July 31, 2012. The difference was primarily driven by changes in state tax statutes which resulted in lower tax obligations in some states.

24

Table of Contents

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Our liquidity is not dependent on the use of off-balance sheet financing arrangements and as of July 31, 2012 we had no such arrangements. There has been no material change in our contractual obligations other than in the ordinary course of business since our fiscal year ended January 31, 2012.

Quarterly Trends

Our operating results fluctuate from quarter to quarter as a result of a variety of factors. We expect our operating results to continue to fluctuate in future quarters.

Our results may reflect the effects of some seasonal trends in listener behavior due to increased internet usage and sales of media-streaming devices during certain vacation and holiday periods. For example, we expect to experience increased usage during the fourth quarter of each calendar year due to the holiday season, and in the first quarter of each calendar year due to increased use of media-streaming devices received as gifts during the holiday season. We may also experience higher advertising sales during the fourth quarter of each calendar year due to greater advertiser demand during the holiday season and lower advertising sales during the first quarter of each calendar year due to seasonally adjusted advertising demand. While we believe these seasonal trends have affected and will continue to affect our operating results, our trajectory of rapid growth may have overshadowed these effects to date. We believe that our business may become more seasonal in the future and that such seasonal variations in listener behavior may result in fluctuations in our financial results.

In addition, expenditures by advertisers tend to be cyclical and discretionary in nature, reflecting overall economic conditions, the economic prospects of specific advertisers or industries, budgeting constraints and buying patterns and a variety of other factors, many of which are outside our control. For example, an advertiser which accounted for more than 10% of our advertising revenue for the first two quarters of fiscal 2012 did not meet this threshold for the first two quarters of fiscal 2013. As a result of these and other factors, the results of any prior quarterly or annual periods should not be relied upon as indications of our future operating performance.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of July 31, 2012 we had cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments totaling \$82.3 million, which consisted of cash and money market funds held at major financial institutions, debt instruments of the U.S. government and its agencies, commercial paper and investment-grade corporate debt securities. Our principal uses of cash during the six months ended July 31, 2012 were funding our operations and capital expenditures.

Sources of Funds

We believe, based on our current operating plan, that our existing cash and cash equivalents and available borrowings under our credit facility will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for at least the next 12 months.

From time to time, we may explore additional financing sources and means to lower our cost of capital, which could include equity, equity-linked and debt financing. In addition, in connection with any future acquisitions, we may require additional funding which may be provided in the form of additional debt, equity or equity-linked financing or a combination thereof. There can be no assurance that any additional financing will be available to us on acceptable terms.

Credit Facility. On May 13, 2011, we entered into a \$30 million credit facility with a syndicate of financial institutions. The amount of borrowings available under the credit facility at any time is based on our monthly accounts receivable balance at such time, and the amounts borrowed are collateralized by our personal property (including such accounts receivable but excluding intellectual property. Under the credit facility, we can request up to \$5 million in letters of credit be issued by the financial institutions.

As of July 31, 2012, we had \$520,000 in letters of credit outstanding and had \$29.5 million of available borrowing capacity under the credit facility. On December 30, 2011, we entered into a cash collateral agreement in connection with the issuance of letters of credit which were used to satisfy deposit requirements under facility leases. As of July 31, 2012, the \$520,000 cash collateral was considered to be restricted cash. The amount is included in other assets on the Company's balance sheet.

Capital Expenditures

Consistent with previous periods, future capital expenditures will primarily focus on acquiring additional hosting and general corporate infrastructure. Based on current estimates, we believe that our anticipated capital expenditures will be adequate to implement our current plans.

25

Table of Contents

Historical Trends

The following table summarizes our cash flow data for the six months ended July 31, 2011 and 2012.

		Six Montl July				
	200	2011 2012				
		(in thou (unau	,			
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities	\$	3,371	\$	(7,734)		
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities		(5,371)		9,580		

Operating Activities

In the six months ended July 31, 2011, net cash provided by operating activities was \$3.4 million including our net loss of \$8.6 million and non-cash charges of \$9.3 million. In addition, cash inflows from changes in operating assets and liabilities included an increase in accrued royalties of \$6.4 million due to the timing of royalty payments and an increase in the number of listeners, an increase in accrued compensation of \$3.8 million related to higher employee bonus compensation due to higher revenue, and an increase in deferred revenue of \$3.3 million primarily related to an increase in customers purchasing subscriptions for Pandora One, offset by cash outflows of an increase in accounts receivable for \$9.2 million due to increased billings and a decrease of \$1.1 million in accounts payable and accrued liabilities primarily related to the timing of payments and to deferred offering costs being reclassified to equity at the closing of our IPO.

In the six months ended July 31, 2012, net cash used in operating activities was \$7.7 million, including our net loss of \$25.6 million and non-cash charges of \$15.2 million. Net cash used in operating activities included \$13.6 million higher accounts receivable primarily due to increased billings, partially offset by \$6.5 million higher accrued royalties due to an increase in listening hours and scheduled royalty rate increases, \$4.9 million higher deferred revenue due to an increase in customers purchasing subscriptions for Pandora One, \$2.6 million higher accrued compensation primarily related to tax withholdings on settlement of equity awards and a \$1.2 million reimbursement of leasehold improvement costs related to our Oakland, California facility.

Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities in the six months ended July 31, 2011 was \$5.4 million consisting primarily of capital expenditures for server equipment.

Cash provided by investing activities in the six months ended July 31, 2012 was \$9.6 million consisting of \$48.6 million in maturities of short-term investments, partially offset by \$35.1 million in purchases of short-term investments and \$3.9 million in capital expenditures primarily related to leasehold improvements.

Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities in the six months ended July 31, 2011 was \$54.3 million consisting of cash proceeds of \$91.7 million from issuance of common stock in our IPO, net of cash paid for issuance costs partially offset by the payment of \$30.6 million in dividends upon conversion of the redeemable convertible preferred stock concurrent with the closing of our IPO, and repayment of all outstanding debt for \$7.6 million.

Cash provided by financing activities in the six months ended July 31, 2012 was \$3.6 million consisting of proceeds from the issuance of common stock.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our condensed consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these condensed consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, and the related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. Our estimates form the basis for our judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

An accounting policy is considered to be critical if it requires an accounting estimate to be made based on assumptions about matters that are highly uncertain at the time the estimate is made, and if different estimates that reasonably could have been used, or changes in the accounting estimate that are reasonably likely to occur, could materially impact the condensed consolidated financial statements. We believe that our critical accounting policies reflect the more significant estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of the condensed consolidated financial statements.

26

Table of Contents

There have been no material changes to our critical accounting policies and estimates as compared to those described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2012 under the caption "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates."

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk

There have been no material changes in our primary market risk exposures or how those exposures are managed from the information disclosed in Part II, Item 7A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2012. For further discussion of quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk, reference is made to our Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain "disclosure controls and procedures," as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act, that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the disclosure controls and procedures are met. Additionally, in designing disclosure controls and procedures, our management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible disclosure controls and procedures. Based on their evaluation at the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level as of July 31, 2012.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the three months ended July 31, 2012 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

The material set forth in Note 5 of Notes to Condensed Financial Statements in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. Before deciding to invest in our common stock, you should carefully consider each of the risk factors described in "Part I - Item 1A. Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2012 and all information set forth in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Those risks and the risks described in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including in the section entitled "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," could materially harm our business, financial condition, operating results, cash flow and prospects. If that occurs, the trading price of our common stock could decline, and you may lose all or part of your investment.

There have been no material changes to the Risk Factors described under "Part I - Item 1A. Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2012, other than as set forth below. The risk factors below, all of which originally appear in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, have been updated to reflect additional information regarding monetization and key metrics we began disclosing in this report and our initiation of early stage entry in international markets, among other things.

Internet radio is an emerging market, which makes it difficult to evaluate our current business and future prospects.

Internet radio is an emerging market and our current business and future prospects are difficult to evaluate. The market for internet radio has undergone rapid and dramatic changes in its relatively short history and is subject to significant challenges. As a result, the future revenue and income potential of our business is uncertain. You should consider our business and prospects in light of the risks and difficulties we encounter in this new and rapidly evolving market, which risks and difficulties include, among others:

- · our relatively new, evolving and unproven business model;
- · our ability to retain our current listenership, build our listener base and increase listener hours;

27

Table of Contents

- our ability to effectively monetize listener hours, particularly with respect to listener hours on mobile devices, by growing our sales of advertising inventory created from growing listener hours and developing compelling ad product solutions that successfully deliver advertisers' messages across the range of our delivery platforms while maintaining our listener experience in continually evolving markets;
- · our ability to attract new advertisers, retain existing advertisers and prove to advertisers that our advertising platform is effective enough to justify a pricing structure that is profitable for us;
- · our ability to maintain relationships with makers of mobile devices, consumer electronic products and automobiles; and
- · our operation under an evolving music industry licensing structure including statutory and compulsory licenses that may change or cease to exist, which in turn may result in a significant increase in our operating expenses.

Failure to successfully address these risks and difficulties, and other challenges associated with operating in a new and emerging market, could inhibit the implementation of our business plan, significantly harm our financial condition, operating results and liquidity and prevent us from achieving or sustaining profitability.

We have incurred significant operating losses in the past and may not be able to generate sufficient revenue to be profitable.

Since our inception in 2000, we have incurred significant net operating losses and, as of January 31, 2012, we had an accumulated deficit of \$101.4 million. A key element of our strategy is to increase the number of listeners and listener hours to increase our market penetration, including the number of listener hours on mobile and other connected devices, such as automobiles and consumer electronics. However, as our number of listener hours increases, the royalties we pay for content acquisition also increase. We have not in the past generated, and may not in the future generate, sufficient revenue from the sale of advertising and subscriptions to offset such royalty expenses. In particular, we have not been able to generate additional revenue from our advertising products as rapidly as we have been able to grow our listener hours, particularly on mobile and other connected devices. Part of the challenge that we face in increasing sales to monetize inventory generated by mobile devices is that radio advertising has traditionally attracted primarily local advertisers and we are still at an early stage of building our sales capability and penetrating local advertising markets. In addition, to the extent that our listener base on mobile platforms may skew to different demographics than we have historically sold on our traditional computer platform, we must identify such demographics and convince advertisers of the capabilities of mobile advertising to maximize advertising inventory utilization across our multi-platform ad campaigns.

If we cannot successfully earn revenue at a rate that exceeds the operational costs associated with increased listener hours, we may not be able to achieve or sustain profitability. In addition, we expect to invest heavily in our operations to support anticipated future growth and the reporting and compliance obligations to which we are subject as a public company. As a result of these factors, we expect to continue to incur operating losses on an annual basis in the near term.

Our revenue increased rapidly in each of the fiscal years ended January 31, 2007 through January 31, 2012; however, we expect our revenue growth rate to decline in the future as a result of a variety of factors, including increased competition and the maturation of our business, and we cannot assure you that our revenue will continue to grow or will not decline. You should not consider our historical revenue growth or operating expenses as indicative of our future performance. If our revenue growth rate declines or our operating expenses exceed our expectations, our financial performance will be adversely affected. Further, if our future growth and operating performance fail to meet investor or analyst expectations, it could have a materially negative effect on our stock price.

In addition, in our efforts to increase revenue as the number of listener hours has grown, we have expanded and expect to continue to expand our sales force. If our hiring of additional sales personnel does not result in a sufficient increase in revenue, the cost of this additional headcount will not be offset, which would harm our operating results and financial condition.

Our failure to convince advertisers of the benefits of our service in the future could harm our business.

For our fiscal year ended January 31, 2012 we derived 87% of our revenue from the sale of advertising and expect to continue to derive a substantial majority of our revenue from the sale of advertising in the future. Our ability to attract and retain advertisers, and ultimately to sell our advertising inventory to generate advertising revenue, depends on a number of factors, including:

- · increasing the number of listener hours;
- · keeping pace with changes in technology and our competitors;
- competing effectively for advertising dollars from other online marketing and media companies;

- · penetrating the market for local radio advertising;
- · demonstrating the value of advertisements to reach targeted audiences across all of our delivery platforms, including the value of mobile digital advertising;

28

Table of Contents

- continuing to develop and diversify our advertisement platform, which currently includes delivery of display, audio and video advertising products through multiple
 delivery channels, including traditional computers, mobile and other connected devices, including automobiles; and
- · coping with ad blocking technologies that have been developed and are likely to continue to be developed that can block the display of our ads.

Our agreements with advertisers are generally short term or may be terminated at any time by the advertiser. Advertisers that are spending only a small amount of their overall advertising budget on our service may view advertising with us as experimental and unproven and may leave us for competing alternatives at any time. We may never succeed in capturing a greater share of our advertisers' core advertising spending, particularly if we are unable to achieve the scale and market penetration necessary to demonstrate the effectiveness of our advertising platforms, or if our advertising model proves ineffective or not competitive when compared to alternatives. Failure to demonstrate the value of our service would result in reduced spending by, or loss of, existing or potential future advertisers, which would materially harm our revenue and business.

Advertising on mobile devices, such as smartphones, is an emerging phenomenon, and if we are unable to increase revenue from our advertising products delivered to mobile devices, our results of operations will be materially adversely affected.

Our number of listener hours on mobile devices has surpassed listener hours on traditional computers, and we expect that this trend will continue. Our mobile listenership has experienced significant growth since we introduced the first mobile version of our service in May 2007. Listener hours on mobile devices and other connected devices constituted approximately 5%, 26%, 54% and 69% of our total listener hours for fiscal years 2009, 2010, 2011 and 2012, respectively. We expect this growth to continue, though at a less rapid pace. Digital advertising on mobile devices is an emerging phenomenon, and the percentage of advertising spending allocated to digital advertising on mobile devices is lower than that allocated to traditional online advertising. According to IDC, the percentage of U.S. advertising spending allocated to advertising on mobile devices was less than 1% in 2010, compared to 13% for all online advertising. We must therefore convince advertisers of the capabilities of mobile digital advertising opportunities so that they migrate their advertising spend toward demographics and ad solutions that more effectively utilize mobile inventory. Our cost of content acquisition, or royalty fees for public performances is currently calculated on the same basis whether a listening hour is consumed on a traditional computer or a mobile device. To date, we have not been able to generate revenue from our advertising products delivered to mobile and other connected devices, such as automobiles and consumer electronics, as effectively as we have for our advertising products served on traditional computers.

Radio advertising has traditionally attracted primarily local advertisers, and we are still at an early stage of building our sales capability to penetrate local advertising markets, which we view as a key challenge in monetizing our listener hours, including listener hours on mobile and other connected devices. In addition, while a substantial amount of our revenue has traditionally been derived from display ads, some display ads may not be currently optimized for use on certain mobile or other connected devices. For example, display ads are not well-suited for use on smartphones due to the size of the device screen and may not be appropriate for smartphones connected to or integrated in automobiles due to safety considerations. Further, some display ads may not be optimized to take advantage of the multimedia capabilities of connected devices. By contrast, audio ads are better-suited for delivery on smartphones connected to or installed in automobiles and across mobile and connected device platforms and video ads can be optimized for a variety of platforms. However, our audio and video advertising products are relatively new and have not been as widely accepted by advertisers as our traditional display ads. In addition, the introduction of audio advertising places us in more direct competition with terrestrial radio, as many advertisers that purchase audio ads focus their spending on terrestrial radio stations who traditionally have strong connections with local advertisers.

We have plans that, that if successfully implemented, would increase our number of listener hours on mobile and other connected devices, including efforts to expand the reach of our service by making it available on an increasing number of devices, such as smartphones and devices connected to or installed in automobiles. In order to effectively monetize such increased listener hours, we must, among other things, convince advertisers to migrate spending to nascent advertising markets, penetrate local advertising markets and develop compelling ad product solutions. We cannot assure you that we will be able to effectively monetize inventory generated by listeners using mobile and connected devices, or the time frame on which we may do so.

If we fail to effectively manage our growth, our business and operating results may suffer.

Our rapid growth has placed, and will continue to place, significant demands on our management and our operational and financial infrastructure. In order to attain and maintain profitability, we will need to recruit, integrate and retain skilled and experienced sales personnel who can demonstrate our value proposition to advertisers and increase the monetization of listener hours, particularly on mobile devices, by developing relationships with both national and local advertisers to convince them to migrate advertising spending to online and mobile digital advertising markets and utilize our advertising product solutions. Continued growth could also strain our ability to maintain reliable service levels for our listeners, effectively monetize our listener hours, develop and improve our operational, financial and management controls, enhance our reporting systems and procedures and recruit, train and

29

Table of Contents

retain highly skilled personnel. If our systems do not evolve to meet the increased demands placed on us by an increasing number of advertisers, we may also be unable to meet our obligations under advertising agreements with respect to the timing of our delivery of advertising or other performance obligations. As our operations grow in size, scope and complexity, we will need to improve and upgrade our systems and infrastructure, which will require significant expenditures and allocation of valuable management resources. If we fail to maintain the necessary level of discipline and efficiency and allocate limited resources effectively in our organization as it grows, our business, operating results and financial condition may suffer.

We face and will continue to face competition for both listener hours and advertising spending.

We compete with other content providers for listener hours.

We compete for the time and attention of our listeners with other content providers on the basis of a number of factors, including quality of experience, relevance, acceptance and diversity of content, ease of use, price, accessibility, perception of ad load, brand awareness and reputation.

Many of our competitors may leverage their existing infrastructure, brand recognition and content collections to augment their services by offering competing internet radio features to provide listeners with more comprehensive music service delivery choices. We face increasing competition for listeners from a growing variety of businesses that deliver audio media content through mobile phones and other wireless devices.

Our competitors include terrestrial radio, satellite radio, and online radio. Terrestrial radio providers such as CBS and Clear Channel offer their content for free, are

well-established and accessible to listeners and offer content, such as news, sports, traffic, weather and talk that we currently do not offer. In addition, many terrestrial radio stations have begun broadcasting digital signals, which provide high quality audio transmission.

Satellite radio providers, such as Sirius XM, may offer extensive and oftentimes exclusive news, comedy, sports and talk content, national signal coverage, and long established automobile integration. In addition, terrestrial radio pays no royalties for its use of sound recordings and satellite radio pays a much lower percentage of revenue, currently 8.0%, than internet radio providers for use of sound recordings, giving broadcast and satellite radio companies a significant cost advantage.

Other online radio providers may offer more extensive content libraries than we offer and some may be accessed internationally.

We also compete with providers of on-demand audio media and entertainment which are purchased or available for free and playable on mobile devices, automobiles and in the home. These forms of media may be purchased, downloaded and owned such as iTunes audio files, MP3s, CDs, or accessed from subscription or free online on-demand offerings by music providers such as RDIO, Spotify, and Rhapsody or content streams from other online services such as Hulu, VEVO, turntable fm and YouTube. We believe that companies with a combination of financial resources, technical expertise and digital media experience also pose a significant threat of developing competing internet radio and digital audio entertainment technologies in the future. In particular, if known incumbents in the digital media space such as Amazon, Apple, Facebook or Google choose to offer competing services, they may devote greater resources than we have available, have a more accelerated time frame for deployment and leverage their existing user base and proprietary technologies to provide products and services that our listeners and advertisers may view as superior. Our current and future competitors may have more well-established brand recognition, more established relationships with consumer product manufacturers, greater financial, technical, and other resources, more sophisticated technologies or more experience in the markets in which we compete.

We also compete for listeners on the basis of our presence and visibility as compared with other businesses and software that deliver audio and other content through the internet, mobile devices and consumer products. We face significant competition for listeners from companies promoting their own digital music and content online or through application stores, including several large, well-funded and seasoned participants in the digital media market. Search engines, such as Google, and mobile device application stores, such as the iTunes Store, rank responses to search queries based on the popularity of a website or mobile application, as well as other factors that are outside of our control. Additionally, mobile device application stores often offer users the ability to browse applications by various criteria, such as the number of downloads in a given time period, the length of time since a mobile app was released or updated, or the category in which the application is placed. The websites and mobile applications of our competitors may rank higher than our website and our Pandora app, and our app may be difficult to locate in mobile device application stores, which could draw potential listeners away from our service and toward those of our competitors. In addition, our competitors' products may be pre-loaded into consumer electronics products or automobiles, creating an initial visibility advantage. If we are unable to compete successfully for listeners against other digital media providers by maintaining and increasing our presence and visibility online, in application stores and in consumer electronics products and automobiles, our listener hours may fail to increase as expected or decline and our advertising sales may suffer.

30

Table of Contents

To compete effectively, we must continue to invest significant resources in the development of our service to enhance the user experience of our listeners. There can be no assurance that we will be able to compete successfully for listeners in the future against existing or new competitors, and failure to do so could result in loss of existing or potential listeners, reduced revenue, increased marketing expenses or diminished brand strength, any of which could harm our business.

We compete for advertising spending with other content providers.

We compete for a share of advertisers' overall marketing budgets with other content providers on a variety of factors including perceived return on investment, effectiveness and relevance of our advertising products, pricing structure and ability to deliver large volumes or precise types of ads to targeted demographics.

We face significant competition for advertising dollars from terrestrial and, to a lesser extent, satellite radio providers. As many of the advertisers we target have traditionally advertised on terrestrial radio and have less experience with internet radio providers, they may be reluctant to spend for advertising on traditional computers, mobile or other connected device platforms. In addition, terrestrial radio providers as well as other traditional media companies in television and print, such as broadcast television networks such as ABC, CBS, FOX and NBC, cable television channel providers, national newspapers such as the New York Times and the Wall Street Journal and some regional newspapers, enjoy a number of competitive advantages over us in attracting advertisers, including large established audiences, longer operating histories, greater brand recognition and a growing presence on the internet.

Although advertisers are allocating an increasing amount of their overall marketing budgets to web and mobile-based ads, such spending lags behind growth in internet and mobile usage, and the market for online and mobile advertising is intensely competitive. As a result, we also compete for advertisers with a range of internet companies, including major internet portals, search engine companies and social media sites. Large internet companies with greater brand recognition, such as Facebook, Google, MSN and Yahoo! have significant numbers of direct sales personnel and substantial proprietary advertising inventory and web traffic that provide a significant competitive advantage and have a significant impact on pricing for internet advertising and web traffic. The trend toward consolidation among online marketing and media companies may also affect pricing and availability of advertising inventory.

In order to compete successfully for advertisers against new and existing competitors, we must continue to invest resources in developing and diversifying our advertisement platform, harnessing listener data and ultimately proving the effectiveness and relevance of our advertising products. Failure to compete successfully against our current or future competitors could result in loss of current or potential advertisers or a reduced share of our advertisers' overall marketing budget, which could adversely affect our pricing and margins, lower our revenue, increase our research and development and marketing expenses and prevent us from achieving or maintaining profitability.

If music publishers withdraw all or a portion of their digital music catalogs from performing rights organizations, we may be forced to enter into direct licensing agreements with these publishers at rates higher than those we currently pay, or we may be unable to reach agreement with these publishers at all, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If music publishers withdraw all or a portion of their catalogs from performing rights organizations (or "PROs") such as ASCAP, BMI or SESAC, we may no longer be able to obtain licenses for such publisher's withdrawn catalogs. Under these circumstances, digital music webcasters, such as Pandora, who previously have been able to secure licenses for such publisher's musical compositions from PROs, would need to enter into direct licensing arrangements with such music publishers. For example, EMI withdrew its catalog from ASCAP in May 2011, and as a result we entered into a separate license agreement with EMI in March 2012. Although we continue to be licensed by the PROs, it is currently unclear what specific effect a publisher's limited withdrawal from a PRO would have on us. If we are unable to reach an agreement with respect to the repertoire of any music publisher who withdraws all or a portion of its catalog(s) from a PRO, or if we are forced to enter into direct licensing agreements with publishers at rates higher than those currently set by the PROs (or higher than those set by the U.S. District Court having supervisory authority over ASCAP and BMI) for the performance of musical works, or if there is uncertainty as to what rights are administered by any particular PRO or publisher, our ability to stream music content to our listeners may be limited or our operating costs may significantly increase, and this could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our operating results may fluctuate, which makes our results difficult to predict and could cause our results to fall short of expectations.

Our revenue and operating results could vary significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year because of a variety of factors, many of which are outside our control. As a result, comparing our operating results on a period to period basis may not be meaningful. In addition to other risk factors discussed in this "Risk Factors" section, factors that may contribute to the variability of our quarterly and annual results include:

- our ability to retain our current listenership, build our listener base and increase listener hours;
- our ability to more effectively monetize mobile listener hours by increasing the sale of mobile advertising inventory as the number of listener hours on mobile devices grow;

31

Table of Contents

- our ability to attract and retain existing advertisers and prove that our advertising products are effective enough to justify a pricing structure that is profitable for us;
- · our ability to effectively manage our growth;
- · our ability to continue to operate under the statutory licenses set forth in the Digital Millenium Copyright Act ("DMCA") and the Digital Performance Right in Sound Recordings Act ("DPRA").
- · our ability to enjoy the benefit of rates negotiated below those established by the CRB in 2007;
- · our ability to enjoy the benefits of collective licensing available through performing rights organizations;
- · the effects of increased competition in our business;
- · our ability to keep pace with changes in technology and our competitors;
- · interruptions in service, whether or not we are responsible for such interruptions, and any related impact on our reputation;
- · costs associated with defending any litigation, including intellectual property infringement litigation;
- our ability to pursue, and the timing of, entry into new geographic or content markets and, if pursued, our management of this expansion;
- · the impact of general economic conditions on our revenue and expenses; and
- · changes in government regulation affecting our business.

Seasonal variations in listener and advertising behavior may also cause fluctuations in our financial results. We expect to experience some effects of seasonal trends in listener behavior due to increased internet usage and sales of media-streaming devices during certain vacation and holiday periods. For example, we expect to experience increased usage during the fourth quarter of each calendar year due to the holiday season, and in the first quarter of each calendar year due to increased use of media-streaming devices received as gifts during the holiday season. We may also experience higher advertising sales during the fourth quarter of each calendar year due to greater advertiser demand during the holiday season. In addition, expenditures by advertisers tend to be cyclical and discretionary in nature, reflecting overall economic conditions, the economic prospects of specific advertisers or industries, budgeting constraints and buying patterns and a variety of other factors, many of which are outside our control. While we believe these seasonal trends have affected and will continue to affect our quarterly results, our trajectory of rapid growth may have overshadowed these effects to date. We believe that our business may become more seasonal in the future and that such seasonal variations in listener behavior may result in fluctuations in our financial results.

We face many risks associated with our long-term plan to expand our operations outside of the United States, including difficulties obtaining rights to stream music on favorable terms.

Expanding our operations into international markets is an element of our long-term strategy. For example, we recently began streaming music to web-based devices and engaging with listeners in New Zealand, Australia and the associated territories. However, offering our service outside of the United States involves numerous risks and challenges. Most importantly, while the DPRA and DMCA provide a statutory licensing regime for the streaming of sound recordings to listeners within the United States, there is no equivalent statutory licensing regime available outside of the United States, and many of the other licensing alternatives currently available in other countries are not commercially viable. Currently, the licensing terms offered by rights organizations and individual copyright owners in most countries outside the United States are prohibitively expensive. Addressing licensing structure and royalty rate issues in the United States required us to make very substantial investments of time, capital and other resources, and our business could have failed if such investments had not succeeded. Addressing these issues in foreign jurisdictions may require a commensurate investment by us, and there can be no assurance that we would succeed or achieve any return on this investment.

In addition, international expansion exposes us to other risks such as:

- the need to modify our technology and sell our solutions in non-English speaking countries;
- · the need to localize our service to foreign customers' preferences and customs;
- the need to amend existing agreements and to enter into new agreements with automakers, automotive suppliers, consumer electronics manufacturers with products that integrate our service, and others in order to provide that service in foreign countries;
- difficulties in managing operations due to language barriers, distance, staffing, cultural differences and business infrastructure constraints and domestic laws regulating corporations that operated internationally;
- · our lack of experience in marketing, and encouraging viral marketing growth without incurring significant marketing expenses, in foreign countries;
- · application of foreign laws and regulations to us;

32

Table of Contents

- · fluctuations in currency exchange rates;
- · reduced or ineffective protection of our intellectual property rights in some countries; and
- potential adverse tax consequences associated with foreign operations and revenue.

Further, in jurisdictions where copyright protection has been insufficient to protect against widespread music piracy, achieving market acceptance of our service may

prove difficult as we would need to convince listeners to stream our service when they could otherwise download the same music for free. As a result of these obstacles, we may find it impossible or prohibitively expensive to enter or sustain our presence in foreign markets, or entry into foreign markets could be delayed, which could hinder our ability to grow our business.

Federal, state and industry regulations as well as self-regulation related to privacy and data security concerns pose the threat of lawsuits and other liability, require us to expend significant resources, and may hinder our ability and our advertisers' ability to deliver relevant advertising.

We collect and utilize demographic and other information, including personally identifiable information, from and about our listeners as they interact with our service. For example, to register for a Pandora account, our listeners must provide the following information: age, gender, zip code and e-mail address. Listeners must also provide their credit card or debit card numbers and other billing information in connection with additional service offerings. We also may collect information from our listeners when they enter information on their profile page, post comments on other listeners' pages, use other community or social networking features that are part of our service, participate in polls or contests or sign up to receive e-mail newsletters. Further, we and third parties use tracking technologies, including "cookies" and related technologies, to help us manage and track our listeners' interactions with our service and deliver relevant advertising. Third parties may, without our knowledge or consent, illegally obtain, transmit or utilize our listeners' personally identifiable information, or data associated with particular users or devices.

Various federal and state laws and regulations govern the collection, use, retention, sharing and security of the data we receive from and about our listeners. Privacy groups and government bodies have increasingly scrutinized the ways in which companies link personal identities and data associated with particular users or devices with data collected through the internet, and we expect such scrutiny to continue to increase. Alleged violations of laws and regulations relating to privacy and data security, and any relevant claims, may expose us to potential liability and may require us to expend significant resources in responding to and defending such allegations and claims. For example, in late 2010 through late 2011, we were named as a defendant in several class action lawsuits alleging, among other things, violations of computer fraud, computer trespass and privacy laws. In addition, in early 2011, we were served with a subpoena to produce documents in connection with a federal grand jury, which we believe was convened to investigate the information sharing processes of certain popular applications that run on the Apple and Android mobile platforms. We complied with the subpoena, and have received no further communication from the agencies conducting the investigation. Claims or allegations that we have violated laws and regulations relating to privacy and data security have resulted and could in the future result in negative publicity and a loss of confidence in us by our listeners and our advertisers, and may subject us to fines by credit card companies and loss of our ability to accept credit and debit card payments.

Existing privacy-related laws and regulations are evolving and subject to potentially differing interpretations, and various federal and state legislative and regulatory bodies may expand current or enact new laws regarding privacy and data security-related matters. We may find it necessary or desirable to join self-regulatory bodies or other privacy-related organizations that require compliance with their rules pertaining to privacy and data security. We also may be bound by contractual obligations that limit our ability to collect, use, disclose, and leverage listener data and to derive economic value from it. New laws, amendments to or re-interpretations of existing laws, rules of self-regulatory bodies, industry standards and contractual obligations, as well as changes in our listeners' expectations and demands regarding privacy and data security, may limit our ability to collect, use, and disclose, and to leverage and derive economic value from listener data. We may also be required to expend significant resources to adapt to these changes and to develop new ways to deliver relevant advertising or otherwise provide value to our advertisers. In particular, government regulators have proposed "do not track" mechanisms, and requirements that users affirmatively "opt-in" to certain types of data collection that, if enacted into law or adopted by self-regulatory bodies or as part of industry standards, could significantly hinder our ability to collect and use data relating to listeners. Restrictions on our ability to collect, access and harness listener data, or to use or disclose listener data or any profiles that we develop using such data, would in turn limit our ability to stream personalized music content to our listeners and offer targeted advertising opportunities to our advertising customers, each of which are critical to the success of our business.

We have incurred, and will continue to incur, expenses to comply with privacy and security standards and protocols imposed by law, regulation, self-regulatory bodies, industry standards and contractual obligations. Increased regulation of data utilization and distribution practices, including self-regulation and industry standards, could increase our cost of operation, limit our ability to grow our operations or otherwise adversely affect our business.

33

Table of Contents

If our security systems are breached, we may face civil liability and public perception of our security measures could be diminished, either of which would negatively affect our ability to attract listeners and advertisers.

Techniques used to gain unauthorized access are constantly evolving, and we may be unable to anticipate or prevent unauthorized access to data pertaining to our listeners, including credit card and debit card information and other personally identifiable information. Like all internet services, our service, which is supported by our own systems and those of third-party vendors, is vulnerable to computer viruses, internet worms, break-ins, phishing attacks, attempts to overload servers with denial-of-service, attempts to access our servers to stream music or acquire playlists, or other attacks and similar disruptions from unauthorized use of our and third-party vendor computer systems, any of which could lead to system interruptions, delays, or shutdowns, causing loss of critical data or the unauthorized access to personally identifiable information. If an actual or perceived breach of security occurs of our systems or a vendor's systems, we may face civil liability and public perception of our security measures could be diminished, either of which would negatively affect our ability to attract listeners, which in turn would harm our efforts to attract and retain advertisers. We also would be required to expend significant resources to mitigate the breach of security and to address related matters. Unauthorized access to music or playlists would potentially create additional royalty obligations with no corresponding revenue.

We cannot control the actions of third parties who may have access to the listener data we collect. The integration of the Pandora service with applications provided by third parties represents a significant growth opportunity for us, but we may not be able to control such third parties' use of listeners' data, ensure their compliance with the terms of our privacy policies, or prevent unauthorized access to, or use or disclosure of, listener information, any of which could hinder or prevent our efforts with respect to growth opportunity. In addition, these third party vendors may become the victim of security breaches, or have practices that may result in a breach and we may be responsible for those third party acts or failures to act.

Any failure, or perceived failure, by us to maintain the security of data relating to our listeners and employees, to comply with our posted privacy policy, laws and regulations, rules of self-regulatory organizations, industry standards, and contractual provisions to which we may be bound, could result in the loss of confidence in us, or result in actions against us by governmental entities or others, all of which could result in litigation and financial losses, and could potentially cause us to lose listeners, advertisers, revenue, and employees.

Our success depends upon the continued acceptance of online advertising as an alternative or supplement to offline advertising.

The percentage of the advertising market allocated to online advertising lags the percentage of consumer offline consumption by a significant degree. Growth of our business will depend in large part on the reduction or elimination of this gap between online and offline advertising spending, which may not happen. Many advertisers still have limited experience with online advertising and may continue to devote significant portions of their advertising budgets to traditional, offline advertising media.

Accordingly, we continue to compete for advertising dollars with traditional media, including broadcast radio.

Although advertisers as a whole are spending an increasing amount of their overall advertising budget on online advertising, we face a number of challenges in growing our advertising revenue. We compete for advertising dollars with significantly larger and more established online marketing and media companies such as Facebook, Google, MSN and Yahoo!. We believe that the continued growth and acceptance of our online advertising products will depend on the perceived effectiveness and the acceptance of online advertising models generally, which is outside of our control. Any lack of growth in the market for online advertising could result in reduced revenue or increased marketing expenses, which would harm our operating results and financial condition.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

In June 2011, our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-172215) was declared effective for IPO. There have been no changes regarding the use of proceeds from our IPO from the disclosure in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2012.

34

Table of Contents

Item 6. Exhibits

			Incor	porated by Refe	erence		
Exhibit No.	Exhibit Description	Form	File No.	Exhibit	Filing Date	Filed By	Filed Herewith
10.12C	Third Amendment to Lease between CIM/Oakland Center 21, LP and Pandora Media, Inc., dated December 15, 2010						X
10.12D	Fourth Amendment to Lease between CIM/Oakland Center 21, LP and Pandora Media, Inc., dated March 10, 2011						X
10.12E	Fifth Amendment to Lease between CIM/Oakland Center 21, LP and Pandora Media, Inc., dated July 1, 2011						X
10.12F	Sixth Amendment to Lease between CIM/Oakland Center 21, LP and Pandora Media, Inc., dated September 27, 2011						X
10.12G	Seventh Amendment to Lease between CIM/Oakland Center 21, LP and Pandora Media, Inc., dated July 12, 2012						X
31.01	Certification of the Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act						X
31.02	Certification of the Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act						X
32.01	Certification of the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act						X
101	Interactive Data Files Pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T: (i) Condensed Balance Sheets as of July 31, 2012 and January 31, 2012, (ii) Condensed Statements of Operations for the Three Months and Six Months ended July 31, 2012 and 2011, (iii) Condensed Statements of Comprehensive Loss for the Three and Six Months Ended July 31, 2012 and 2011, (iv) Condensed Statements of Cash Flows for the Six Months ended July 31, 2012 and 2011 and (v) Notes to Condensed Financial Statements(1)						X
	35						

Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Pandora Media, Inc. has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

PANDORA MEDIA, INC.

Date: September 4, 2012 By: /s/ Steven Cakebread

Steven Cakebread

Executive Vice President and Chief

Financial Officer

(Duly Authorized Officer and Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

THIRD AMENDMENT TO LEASE

(Pandora)

THIS THIRD AMENDMENT TO LEASE (this "Amendment") is entered into as of December 15, 2010 by and between CIM/OAKLAND CENTER 21, LP, a Delaware limited partnership ("Landlord"), and PANDORA MEDIA, INC., a California corporation ("Tenant") with reference to the following facts:

RECITALS

- A. Landlord and Tenant entered into that certain Office Lease (<u>Original Lease</u>"), dated as of July 23, 2009, as amended by that First Amendment to Lease (<u>First Amendment</u>"), dated as of April 13, 2010, and that Second Amendment to Lease (<u>Second Amendment</u>") dated as of June 16, 2010, pursuant to which Tenant leases certain premises (the "<u>Premises</u>") known as Suite 1650, and currently consist of 24,451 rentable square feet on the sixteenth (1et) floor of that certain office project in the City of Oakland, California known as "Center 21" comprised of (i) a 20 story building located at 2101 Webster Street, Oakland California (the "<u>2101 Webster Building</u>"), and (ii) a nine story building located at 2100 Franklin Street (the "<u>2100 Franklin Building</u>"; the 2101 Webster Building and the 2100 Franklin Building are collectively referred to herein as the "<u>Building</u>"). The Original Lease, as amended by the First Amendment, is referred to herein as the "<u>Lease</u>."
- B. Tenant has requested that Landlord lease the fifteenth (15h) floor ("15h Floor Expansion Premises") to Tenant in addition to the Premises.
- C. The parties now agree to expand the Premises, and to modify the Lease, in accordance with the following terms and conditions.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, Landlord and Tenant hereby agree as follows (capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meaning given them in the Lease):

AGREEMENT

- 1. <u>Incorporation of Recitals</u>. Recitals A, B and C above are incorporated herein by reference.
- 2. <u>Premises.</u> On or about February 1, 2011, and subject to Landlord's relocation of the existing tenants on the 15th Floor ("<u>Pre-Condition</u>"), Landlord shall deliver, and Tenant shall lease, the 15th Floor Expansion Premises, which space consists of approximately 24,025 rentable square feet on the 15th Floor of the Building, as more particularly indicated on <u>Exhibit "A"</u> attached hereto (the "<u>Expansion Commencement Date</u>"). Landlord shall not be liable for the failure of any Pre-Condition, or any delay in delivery of possession of the 15th Floor Expansion Premises. Effective upon the Expansion Commencement Date, the Premises shall be increased to include the 15th Floor Expansion Premises, for a total of 48,476 rentable square feet. Effective as of the

1

Expansion Commencement Date, all references in the Lease to the "Premises" shall mean and refer to the Premises, as herein expanded by the 19 Floor Expansion Premises.

- 3. <u>Term.</u> The Expiration Date shall be extended such that the Lease shall terminate ('New Termination Date") on September 30, 2017 (the period from October 1, 2016 through September 30, 2017 shall be known as the "Extended Term"). The period from the Expansion Commencement Date through the New Termination Date shall be known as the "Expansion Term." Tenant shall not have any right to extend the Lease beyond the Extended Term.
- 4. <u>Monthly Base Rent</u>. The parties agree that the Base Rent and Additional Rent pertaining to the 15th Floor Expansion Premises shall commence on the earlier of (i) Tenant's occupancy of the 15th Floor Expansion Premises, or (ii) one hundred twenty days following Landlord's delivery of the 15th Floor Expansion Premises (the "Expansion Rent Commencement Date"). During the Expansion Term, as Base Rent for the 15th Floor Expansion Premises, Tenant shall pay the following:

Expansion Term	Mo	Monthly Rent Monthly PSF Rent					
3/1/11 - 9/30/11	\$	64,867.50	\$	2.70			
10/1/11 - 9/30/12	\$	66,309.00	\$	2.76			
10/1/12 - 9/30/13	\$	67,510.25	\$	2.81			
10/1/13 - 9/30/14	\$	69,432.25	\$	2.89			
10/1/14 - 9/30/15	\$	71,594.50	\$	2.98			
10/1/15 - 9/30/16	\$	73,756.75	\$	3.07			
10/1/16 - 9/30/17	\$	73,756.75	\$	3.07			

As to the Premises (including the Expanded Spaces as defined in the 2rd Amendment), the parties acknowledge and agree that Tenant shall pay \$75,064.57 per month (based on \$3.07 per monthly rentable square foot) as Base Rent during the Extended Term.

- 5. <u>Base Year; Tenant's Proportionate Share</u>. During the Expansion Term, as to the 15th Floor Expansion Premises, Tenant shall pay Tenant's Proportionate Share of increases of Operating Costs over the calendar year 2011. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall continue to pay Tenant's Proportionate Share of increases of Operating Costs for the Premises (including the Expanded Spaces) over the calendar year 2009 per the terms of the Lease. Operating Costs [for the Building shall be grossed up in accordance with the terms of the Lease.
- 6. <u>Condition of the Option Space</u>. Tenant hereby agrees to accept the 15th Floor Expansion Premises in their "as-is, where is" condition and Tenant hereby acknowledges that Landlord has made no representation or warranty regarding the condition of the 15th Floor Expansion Premises. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall be entitled to a Tenant Allowance to construct

2

prior written notice to Landlord to commence construction of the Tenant Improvements and install trade fixtures and equipment within the 15th Floor Expansion Premises. Any such entry by Tenant shall be subject to all of the conditions set forth in the Lease and in this Amendment except for the payment of Base Rent and Operating Costs.

- 7. Parking. Effective as of the Expansion Commencement Date and continuing throughout the Expansion Term, Tenant shall have the right to rent the following parking rights: Two (2) unreserved parking passes for use in the Underground Parking Garage (currently \$230 /month/ stall, and up to twenty-four (24) unreserved parking passes in the Parking Structure at 2353 Webster (currently \$140.00/month/stall). Tenant's rental and use of such additional parking passes shall be in accordance with, and subject to, all provisions of Article 1.13 of the Lease including, without limitation, any increases in payment of the monthly parking rates as specified therein. Bicycle parking is available on the first deck of the 2353 Webster Parking Structure at no cost to Tenant. The parties acknowledge that Landlord currently operates a courtesy shuttle between the Parking Structure and the Building, and between the Building and the 19th Street BART Station between 6:30 a.m. and 9:30 a.m. and between 3:30 p.m. and 8:30 p.m. Tenant should direct any questions regarding such shuttle to the Building manager.
- 8. Right of First Offer. Subject to any current tenants or holders of rights pertaining to the First Offer Space (the 'Prior Rights Holders'), and commencing on the Expansion Rent Commencement Date, Tenant is hereby granted the rights set forth below in this Section ("First Offer Rights") to lease such additional space on any full floor in the Building that may be vacant and available for leasing from time to time throughout the Expansion Term ("First Offer Term"). Subject to the prior provisions of this Section, and so long as the First Offer Rights remain in effect, Tenant shall have the right to lease, upon the terms and conditions set forth below, the "First Offer Space". Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, Tenant's First Offer Rights shall be limited to the First Offer Term, and shall be null and void during any period in which (a) the originally named Tenant or its Affiliate (provided that such Affiliate has assumed the entire Lease and occupies the entire Premises) is no longer legally occupying the Premises or any portion thereof, or (b) Tenant is in Default under the Lease. The rights granted herein shall be personal to the Original Tenant or its Affiliate.
- (a) When from time to time Landlord shall desire to offer any First Offer Space for lease to third parties other than the Prior Rights Holders, then Landlord shall give Tenant written notice (an "Availability Notice") of the availability or scheduled availability of such First Offer Space for lease and Landlord's proposed rental rates for the Base Rent for each year of the proposed lease and other economic terms for such First Offer Space ("Landlord's Proposed Economic Terms"). The First Offer Space described in Landlord's Availability Notice is hereinafter referred to as an "Available Space." Landlord's Proposed Economic Terms will represent Landlord's good faith determination of the prevailing market terms for the Available Space.

3

- (b) Within fifteen (15) days after receipt of the Availability Notice, Tenant must give Landlord written notice pursuant to which Tenant shall elect to either: (i) lease all and not less than all of the Available Space identified by Landlord on Landlord's Proposed Economic Terms; (ii) refuse to lease the Available Space, specifying that such refusal is not based upon the Landlord's Proposed Economic Terms, but upon Tenant's lack of need for the Available Space, in which event Landlord may for a period of twelve (12) months thereafter lease the Available Space to any party upon any terms Landlord deems appropriate; or (iii) refuse to lease the Available Space, specifying that such refusal is based upon Landlord's Proposed Economic Terms. Tenant's failure to timely choose clause (ii) clause (iii) above will be deemed to be Tenant's choice of clause (iii) above. If Tenant timely elects not to lease the Available Space because it objects to Landlord's Proposed Economic Terms, Landlord and Tenant will, in good faith, negotiate revised terms for a period of ten (10) business days after Tenant notifies Landlord in writing that it refuses to lease the Available Space based on Landlord's Proposed Economic Terms. If the parties are unable to reach agreement on the terms of a lease for the Available Space within said ten (10) business day period (or within such time as the parties may mutually agree), Landlord may lease the Available Space at any time within a period of twelve (12) months thereafter to any third party upon terms no more favorable that the final terms offered by Tenant during the negotiations.
- (c) If Tenant elects to lease all such Available Space (any Available Space as to which Tenant shall exercise its right of First Offer shall hereafter be referred to as the "Subject Space"), then the Subject Space shall be included in the Premises for the remaining balance of the Expansion Term and shall be leased to Tenant pursuant to the provisions of the Lease, with the following exceptions: (a) the Base Rent and other economic terms applicable to the Subject Space shall be determined in accordance with 8(b) above; (b) Tenant's Proportionate Share shall be increased appropriately to reflect the addition of the Subject Space to the Premises; and (c) the term as to any such Subject Space leased by Tenant shall commence upon the earlier of (i) the 30th day after Landlord shall have delivered the Subject Space to Tenant, or (ii) the date on which Tenant commences its usual business operations in the Subject Space, and shall end upon the expiration date of the Expansion Term.
- (d) Promptly after Tenant's exercise of its rights under this Section, the parties shall agree upon and execute an amendment (in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Landlord and Tenant) to the Lease memorializing the terms and conditions upon which the First Offer Space in question shall be added to the Premises.
- (e) In the event Tenant fails to give Landlord timely notice of Tenant's election to lease any First Offer Space covered by an Availability Notice, then Landlord shall be free to market such First Offer Space for lease by third parties and Tenant shall have no further right as to such Available Space.
- 9. <u>Security Deposit</u>. On or current with Tenant's execution of this Amendment, Tenant shall increase the Security Deposit (or, alternatively, the Letter of Credit, if Tenant has delivered a Letter of Credit to Landlord under the terms of Section 3.4 of the Lease), to a total of \$600,625.00 (the "<u>Increased Security Deposit</u>"). This Increased Security Deposit (or a Letter of Credit in said amount) shall be held by Landlord in accordance with the terms of Section 3.4 of the Lease.

4

Notwithstanding the foregoing, and so long as there is no Event of Default under the Lease, Landlord shall return a portion of the Increased Security Deposit (or a portion of the Letter of Credit, as applicable) of up to \$451,803.68 within thirty (30) days' of Landlord's receipt of Tenant's audited tax returns evidencing three (3) consecutive quarters of positive pre-tax income, and thereafter, Landlord shall retain \$148,821.32 as the total Security Deposit under the Lease. The foregoing is personal to the Original Tenant or its Affiliate and shall not be assignable or transferable.

- 10. <u>Statement of Commencement Dates</u>. Tenant agrees to execute and deliver a commencement letter in a form substantially similar to that attached as Exhibit B to the Lease upon Landlord's reasonable request.
- 11. Status of Lease. Except as amended by this Amendment, the Lease remains unchanged, and, as amended by this Amendment, the Lease is in full force and effect.
- 12. <u>Counterparts.</u> This Amendment may be executed in several counterparts, each of which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same Amendment. In addition, properly executed, authorized signatures may be transmitted via facsimile and upon receipt shall constitute an original signature.
- 13. Entire Agreement. There are no oral or written agreements or representations between the parties hereto affecting the Lease not contained in the Lease or this Amendment. The Lease, as amended, supersedes and cancels any and all previous negotiations, arrangements, representations, brochures, displays, projections, estimates, agreements, and understandings, if any, made by, to, or between Landlord and Tenant and their respective agents and employees with respect to the subject matter thereof, and none shall be used to interpret, construe, supplement or contradict the Lease, including any and all amendments thereto. The Lease, and all amendments thereto, shall be considered to be the only agreement between the parties hereto and their representatives and agents. To be effective and binding on Landlord and Tenant, any amendment, revision, change or modification to the provisions of the Lease must be in writing and executed by both parties.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have entered into this Amendment as of the date first set forth above.

"Tenant":

PANDORA MEDIA, INC.,

a California corporation

By: /s/ Steven Cakebread
Name: Steven Cakebread

Its: CFO

"Landlord":

CIM/OAKLAND CENTER 21, LP,

a Delaware limited partnership

By: CIM/Oakland Office Properties GP, LLC,

its general partner

By: /s/ Avraham Shemesh

Avraham Shemesh

Treasurer



6

Exhibit "A" 15th Floor Expansion Premises

7

Exhibit "B" Work Letter

1. Approval Process for Plans.

- 1.1 <u>Delivery of Landlord's Plans and Preparation of Preliminary Plans</u> Concurrently with Landlord's delivery of the 15th Floor Expansion Premises, Landlord shall deliver to Tenant Landlord's base building plans ("*Landlord's Plans*") for the construction of the shell and core of the Project.
- 1.2 <u>Approval of Preliminary Plans.</u> Prior to Tenant's construction of the Improvements, Tenant shall submit to Landlord preliminary plans and specifications for the tenant improvements to be installed in the Premises (the "<u>Preliminary Plans</u>"). The Preliminary Plans shall be prepared by an architect selected and paid by Tenant who is licensed by the State of California. Said architect shall be approved by Landlord in writing, provided that Landlord's approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.
 - 1.2.1 <u>Landlord's Response.</u> Within five (5) business days after Landlord's receipt of the Preliminary Plans, Landlord shall notify Tenant in writing of its approval or of any reasonable objections thereto. Within five (5) business days after the receipt by Tenant of a timely objection of Landlord, Tenant shall cause the Preliminary Plans to be modified and shall thereafter deliver the modified plans to Landlord for its approval. Landlord shall have two (2) business days from its receipt thereof to approve such modified Preliminary Plans in the same manner as set forth above. This procedure shall be followed until all reasonable objections have been resolved and the Preliminary Plans have been approved.
 - 1.2.2 Evidence of Approval. Landlord's and Tenant's approval of the Preliminary Plans shall be evidenced by their initialing and dating each page thereof.
 - 1.2.3 <u>Changes to Preliminary Plans</u>. If Tenant makes any subsequent changes or modifications to the approved Preliminary Plans, then Tenant shall submit such changes to Landlord for its approval. Within two (2) business days after receipt of said changes (provided Landlord shall have three (3) business days if such changes are substantial), Landlord shall notify Tenant in writing of its approval or of any reasonable objections thereto.
- 1.3 <u>Approval of Permit Drawings</u>. Within fifteen (15) calendar days following the initialing of the Preliminary Plans by Landlord and Tenant, Tenant shall prepare and deliver to Landlord engineering working drawings for all mechanical, electrical, plumbing and fire sprinkler systems (the "<u>Permit Drawings</u>") for Landlord's approval.
 - 1.3.1 <u>Landlord's Response</u>. Landlord shall approve or disapprove the Permit Drawings within five (5) business days after Landlord's receipt thereof, provided that Landlord's approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Landlord's disapproval shall be effected by Landlord's delivery to Tenant, within such five (5) business day period, of a writing setting forth with specificity the reasons for such disapproval. Within five (5) business days of the receipt by Tenant of Landlord's objections, Tenant shall cause the Permit Drawings to be modified and shall deliver the modified Permit Drawings to Landlord for its approval. Landlord shall have two (2) business days from its receipt thereof to approve such modified Permit Drawings in the same manner as set forth above. This procedure shall be followed until all reasonable objections have been resolved and the Permit Drawings have been approved.

- 1.3.2 Evidence of Approval. Tenant's and Landlord's approval of the Permit Drawings shall be evidenced by their initialing and dating each page thereof.
- 1.3.3 <u>Changes to Permit Drawings.</u> If Tenant makes any subsequent changes or modifications to the approved Permit Drawings, then Tenant shall submit such changes to Landlord for its approval. Within two (2) business days after receipt of said changes (provided Landlord shall have three (3) business days if such changes are substantial), Landlord shall notify Tenant in writing of its approval or of any reasonable objections thereto.
- 1.4 <u>Limitation on Tenant's Improvements</u>. In no event shall the improvements to be made by Tenant to the Premises exceed the Project's systems limits or capacities, including the limits applicable to plumbing, electrical, HVAC, and load bearing systems.

1.5 Plan Check

- 1.5.1 Within five (5) days following Landlord's approval of the Permit Drawings, Tenant shall submit the Permit Drawings to the Building Services Division of the City of Oakland ("BSD") for necessary plan checks and approvals. Any and all plan check corrections shall be made by Tenant. Tenant shall use all reasonable efforts and incur all costs reasonably necessary to expedite BSD approval of the Permit Drawings. Until Tenant obtains BSD approval of the Permit Drawings, Tenant shall provide to Landlord, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Landlord, bi-monthly reports on the first and fifteenth day of each month detailing the status of Tenant's efforts to obtain BSD approval. Tenant's failure to diligently pursue BSD approval of the Permit Drawings and/or Tenant's failure to deliver any such bi-monthly report shall constitute a Default without notice or opportunity to cure.
- 1.6 If, despite Tenant's diligent efforts, Tenant is unable to obtained BSD approval of the Permit Drawings within sixty (60) days after its initial submittal to the BSD, then Landlord may terminate the Lease as to the 15th Floor Expansion Premises upon sixty (60) days' notice to Tenant and in the event of such termination both Landlord and Tenant shall be released from any liability or obligation under the Lease as to the 15th Floor Expansion Premises.
- 1.7 Change Orders. In the event Tenant desires to change any item of the Permit Drawings or the Preliminary Plans following approval by Landlord, Tenant, and BSD, then Tenant shall submit a change order detailing the desired change (the "Change Order Request") to Landlord for Landlord's approval. Within three (3) business days after receipt of the Change Order Request from Tenant, Landlord shall notify Tenant in writing if Landlord approves or disapproves the Change Order Request, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. The latest Permit Drawings and preliminary Plans (including changes thereto pursuant to an approved Change Order Request) as approved by Landlord are herein referred to as the "Approved Plans".
- 1.8 Approval of Tenant's Contractors and Subcontractors. Prior to hiring any contractors or subcontractors, or entering into agreements with any of them, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord for Landlord's reasonable approval a list of the contractors and subcontractors Tenant proposes to hire to perform the work in the Premises. Landlord's approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. It shall be reasonable for Landlord to withhold approval based on the proposed contractor's or subcontractor's inadequate financial status, reputation for poor quality work, inability or unwillingness to obtain insurance, union/non-union status, or lack of experience with projects like the Project in Oakland, California. As a condition to its approval, Landlord may require insurance coverage, regular written progress reports and consultations, and the employment of only union or non-union personnel and

9

subcontractors. For the purposes of this Work Letter, is hereby approved as Tenant's general contractor. In any event, Landlord shall have the right to designate the subcontractors to perform work in the Premises which could reasonably affect the systems (or warranties concerning such systems) of the Project, including but not limited to the elevator (if any), roof, HVAC, methane detection, fire/life safety, plumbing, exterior, foundation, and load bearing elements, provided that the cost of such subcontractors' services are within the range typically charged by similar subcontractors in the East Bay region.

- 1.9 <u>Timely Performance</u>. Tenant agrees to cause any plans, specifications, drawings, schedules and documents to be provided by it hereunder to be prepared promptly and in coordination with the activities of Landlord and its agents. Landlord agrees to timely perform its obligations hereunder at no cost to Tenant. In addition, Landlord will not charge Tenant any supervisory fee. Time is of the essence.
- 1.10 <u>Exculpation</u>. Landlord's space planner and engineer are independent contractors. Landlord may introduce Tenant to Landlord's space planner as an accommodation to Tenant. Even if the Preliminary Plans, Permit Drawings, and any changes thereto are performed by Landlord's space planner and engineers, and notwithstanding any advice or assistance which may be rendered to Tenant and/or Landlord's space planner and/or engineers by Landlord or employees or affiliates of Landlord or affiliates of Landlord's general partners, Landlord shall not be responsible for any omissions or errors contained therein.
 - 1.11 Signs. Without limiting the foregoing, all exterior signs installed by Tenant shall comply with Landlord's Signage Criteria.
- 1.12 Quality of Design and Construction. Tenant's Tenant Improvement Work shall be consistent with Landlord's Plans and of the same quality as used by Landlord within the Building.

Payment for Tenant Improvement Work.

- 2.1 Cost of Plans and Tenant Improvement Work. Tenant shall pay for all costs incurred in the design and construction of Tenant Improvements in the 15 Floor Expansion Premises and the design and preparation of the Approved Plans, Preliminary Plans and Permit Drawings, including but not limited to (i) revisions thereof as reasonably required for approval by Landlord, Tenant, and/or the BSD; and (ii) all necessary printing and distribution costs required to implement the purposes of this Exhibit "B", and the cost of all permits and certificates. Notwithstanding the foregoing, and provided Tenant is not in Default under this Work Letter or the terms of the Lease, Landlord shall provide Tenant with an allowance in an amount not to exceed \$1,201,250.00 (based on \$50.00 per rentable square feet) (the "Allowance") to be applied towards the Tenant Improvement (as that term is hereinafter defined). The Allowance shall be paid within thirty (30) days of Landlord's receipt of the items required under Section 3.1.13 of this Work Letter. The Allowance will be disbursed by Landlord either to Tenant directly or to Tenant's general contractor, at Tenant's option and direction, every thirty (30) days pursuant to requests for disbursement which will include invoices and conditional lien releases. After the Allowance has been fully disbursed and if the Tenant Improvements are not complete, Tenant will be responsible for any remaining cost of the Tenant Improvements. Any unused or unfunded portion of the Allowance will not be available to Tenant as a credit against the Base Rent or Operating Costs and any remaining funds shall revert to Landlord, provided, however, that Tenant shall be entitled to use up to \$5.00 per rentable square foot towards Tenant's purchase of FF&E, provided Tenant that has spent at least \$40.00 per rentable square foot for hard and soft costs associated with the Tenant Improvements.
- 2.2 <u>Definition of Tenant Improvements</u>. The term "<u>Tenant Improvements</u>" shall mean the design and construction of all improvements shown in the Approved Plans as integrated by Tenant's

Construction

- 3.1 <u>Construction by Tenant.</u> The tenant improvement work set forth in the Approved Plans shall be performed in accordance with the following:
- 3.1.1 The Tenant Improvements to the 15th Floor Expansion Premises shall be constructed using the same quality as used by Landlord within the Building. Tenant shall diligently prosecute such construction to completion. Tenant shall have the work performed in such a manner so as not to (a) obstruct the access of any other tenant or occupant in the Project, (b) damage any portion of the Project, including Common Areas, or (c) create dust or dirt in any Common Areas. Tenant shall cause the work areas to be cleaned on a daily basis.
- 3.1.2 All Tenant Improvement work in the 15th Floor Expansion Premises shall be performed by Tenant's contractors and subcontractors strictly in accordance with the Approved Plans, the provisions of Title 24 of the California Administrative Code, the Americans with Disabilities Act, and all other applicable Laws, and shall satisfy the requirements of all carriers of insurance on the Premises and the Project, and the Board of Underwriters Fire Rating Bureau or similar organization.
- 3.1.3 All Tenant Improvements in the 15th Floor Expansion Premises shall be performed in accordance with the reasonable rules and regulations of Landlord.
- 3.1.4 Prior to the commencement of the Tenant Improvements in the 15h Floor Expansion Premises, Tenant shall notify Landlord in writing of the anticipated date of the commencement of construction to enable Landlord to post a notice of non-responsibility.
- 3.1.5 Prior to the commencement of the Tenant Improvements in the 15th Floor Expansion Premises, Tenant shall furnish a copy of the Building Permit to Landlord.
- 3.1.6 Prior to and continuing during the period of Tenant's access, entry and construction, Tenant's contractors and subcontractors shall procure and maintain property damage and commercial general liability insurance during the period of their performance of labor or the furnishing of materials to the Premises from an insurance company satisfactory to Landlord. Said insurance shall be as shown on Exhibit B-1, and shall name Landlord and, at Landlord's request, any Lenders of Landlord or any ground lessor, as additional insureds, as their respective interests may appear. Tenant shall also require each contractor and subcontractor employed to perform labor or furnish materials to the 15th Floor Expansion Premises to procure and maintain, during the performance of the labor or the furnishing of the materials, a policy of workers' compensation or employer's liability insurance issued by an insurance company reasonably acceptable to Landlord for the protection of the employees of the contractors and subcontractors, including executive, managerial, and supervisorial employees engaged in any Tenant Improvements to be performed in the Premises. Copies of the policies or certificates evidencing the existence and amounts of such insurance, and renewals or binders, shall be delivered to Landlord by Tenant at least ten (10) days

11

prior to (a) the commencement of Tenant Improvements, or (b) the expiration of any such policy, as the case may be.

- 3.1.7 Landlord shall have no responsibility for the quality or adequacy of any work performed by Tenant's contractors or subcontractors, whether with respect to labor, material, or otherwise.
- 3.1.8 Tenant shall be solely responsible for security in the 15th Floor Expansion Premises during the period of construction. None of Landlord, Landlord's contractor, or their agents or employees shall have any responsibility whatsoever for the safety of any equipment, tools, materials, fixtures, merchandise, or other personal property located in the 15th Floor Expansion Premises during the period of construction except to the extent damage is caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord, Landlord's contractor, or their agents or employees.
- 3.1.9 The Project and the Premises shall be kept free and clear of any and all mechanics' or similar liens on account of work performed by Tenant, its contractors or subcontractors. If any such liens are filed, Tenant shall post a release bond pursuant to the provisions of California Civil Code Section 3143 within twenty (20) days following the filing of such lien.
- 3.1.10 Landlord and Landlord's Lender shall have access to the 15th Floor Expansion Premises for purposes of inspection at all times during the period of construction.
- 3.1.11 Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for any and all expenses incurred by Landlord by reason of faulty work performed by Tenant or its contractors or subcontractors, damage to the Project caused by Tenant's contractors or subcontractors, or as a result of the inadequate clean-up by Tenant's contractors or subcontractors, including but not limited to reasonable legal fees and costs incurred in connection with Landlord's enforcement of the provisions of this Subparagraph.
- 3.1.12 Landlord shall be deemed to be the owner of all of the tenant improvements constructed by Tenant pursuant to this *Exhibit "C"*, with the exception of Tenant's trade fixtures which shall include, without limitation, furnishings and equipment, any portable, free-standing partitions, and folding partitions.
 - 3.1.13 Within thirty (30) days after Substantial Completion of the Improvements in the 15th Floor Expansion Space, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord:
 - (a) Reproducible "as-built" plans and specifications for all tenant improvement work performed by Tenant in the 15th Floor Expansion Premises.
 - (b) Tenant's contractor's completion certificate in form and substance satisfactory to Landlord, and evidence that Tenant's Work has been performed in accordance with the Permit Plans (as amended with the approval of Landlord).
 - (c) A copy of a recorded, valid notice of completion.
 - (d) Copies of signed-off permits, certificates of occupancy for the 15h Floor Expansion Premises, and a stamped set of final approved plans evidencing governmental approval of the completion of Tenant's Work.

12

(e) Properly executed unconditional final lien waivers in form complying with California Civil Code Section 3262(d)(4) from all contractors and subcontractors performing any part of Tenant's Work.

4. <u>Acceptance of Premises by Tenant</u>. Tenant acknowledges and agrees that it has inspected the 15th Floor Expansion Premises and shall accept delivery of the 15th Floor Expansion Premises in their "as-is" condition, subject to Section 3.1 hereof.

"Tenant":

PANDORA MEDIA, INC.,

a California corporation

By: /s/ Steven Cakebread Name: Steven Cakebread

Its:

"Landlord":

CIM/OAKLAND CENTER 21, LP,

a Delaware limited partnership

By: CIM/Oakland Office Properties GP, LLC,

its general partner

By: /s/ Avraham Shemesh

Avraham Shemesh Treasurer



13

EXHIBIT B-1

- A. Commercial General Liability insurance (including contractual liability coverage and products/completed operations) on an occurrence basis for bodily injury, death, "broad form" property damage, and personal injury, with coverage limits of not less than One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000) per occurrence and Two Million dollars (\$2,000,000) general aggregate for bodily injury and property damage;
- B. Auto liability insurance covering all owned, non-owned and hired vehicles, with coverage limits of not less than One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000) per occurrence for bodily injury and property damage;
- C. Umbrella liability insurance on an occurrence form, for limits of not less than Two Million Dollars (\$2,000,000) per occurrence and in the aggregate; and

Insurance carriers to be rated A-VII or better by A.M. Best Company.

14

EXHIBIT C

SUMMARY OF THE RESPONSIBLE CONTRACTOR PROGRAM POLICY

Fair Wage & Fair Benefits—Tenant hereby certifies that all subcontractors and employees retained to perform work under this Lease receive a "fair wage" and "fair benefits". Fair benefits are evidenced by some of the following: employer-paid family health care coverage, pension benefits, apprenticeship programs and benefits paid for comparable work on comparable projects. Fair wage does not require the payment of "prevailing wages," as defined by government surveys and laws. Instead, fair wage is evidenced by some of the following: local practices with regard to type of trade and type of project, local wage practices and labor market conditions.

Competitive Bidding/Disadvantaged Businesses—Tenant hereby certifies that all subcontractors retained to perform construction, maintenance or services contracted under this Lease shall be selected through a competitive bidding and selection process designed to seek bids from a broad spectrum of qualified Service-Disabled Veteran Business Enterprises ("SDV/BE"), Minority/Women Owned Business Enterprises ("MBE/WBE") and Small Business Enterprises ("SBE"). The competitive bidding process shall include notification and invitations to bid that target responsible contractors, MBE/WBE, SDV/BE and SBE contractors with experience, honesty, integrity, and dependability. A complete copy of the RCP shall be attached to all requests for proposal and invitations to bid.

Definitions—A SBE is defined as a business with 100 or fewer employees and less than \$10 million annual average gross receipts over the previous three tax years. A MBE/WBE must be at least 51% owned by a minority or minorities, or a woman or women, who exercise the power to make policy decisions and who are actively involved in the day-to-day management of the business. A SDV/BE must be at least 51% owned by a disabled veteran and a disabled veteran must be involved in the day-to-day management of the business. Tenant shall meet or exceed a goal of 3% SDV/BE participation or make a good-faith effort to achieve such participation.

<u>Local, State and National Laws and Requirements</u>—Tenant and its subcontractors shall observe all local, state, and national laws (including by way of illustration those pertaining to insurance, withholding taxes, minimum wage, health and occupational safety), and this RCP.

Complete Copy—A complete copy of the RCP is available upon request from the Landlord and at www.calpers.ca.gov/invest/policies/other-investment-policies/responsible-contractor.htm. Related information regarding SBE compliance is available at www.pd.dgs.ca.gov/smbus/default.htm. Related information regarding MBE/WBE compliance is available at www.pd.dgs.ca.gov/smbus/mwbepp.htm. Related information regarding SDV/BE compliance is available at www.calpers.ca.gov/contracts/veteran.htm and at www.pd.dgs.ca.gov/dvbe/default.htm. This summary of the RCP shall not, in any way, constitute a substitution for the RCP. Tenant shall comply with all of the terms contained in the complete copy of the RCP and as it may be updated from time to time by CalPERS.

FOURTH AMENDMENT TO LEASE

THIS FOURTH AMENDMENT TO LEASE (this "Amendment") is entered into as of March 10, 2011 by and between CIM/OAKLAND CENTER 21, LP, a Delaware limited partnership ("Landlord"), and PANDORA MEDIA, INC., a California corporation ("Tenant"), with reference to the following facts:

RECITALS

- A. Landlord and Tenant entered into that certain Office Lease dated as of July 23, 2009, as amended by that certain First Amendment to Lease dated as of April 13, 2010, that certain Second Amendment to Lease dated June 16, 2010 and that certain Third Amendment to Lease dated as of December 15, 2010 (collectively, the "Lease"), pursuant to which Tenant leases certain premises (the "Premises") consisting of 48,476 rentable square feet on the fifteenth (15h) and sixteenth (16th) floor of the Building located 2101 Webster Street, Oakland, California (the "2101 Webster Building"), which is part of the office project known as "Center 21" comprised of (i) the 2101 Webster Building, (ii) the building located at 2100 Franklin Street, Oakland, California (the "2100 Franklin Building"; and together with the 2101 Webster Building the "Buildings"), (iii) a subterranean parking garage underneath the Buildings, and (iv) a multi-story parking structure located at 2353 Webster Street (collectively, the "Project").
- B. Tenant has requested that Landlord lease to Tenant on a month-to-month basis a portion of the 18h floor of the 2101 Webster Building commonly known as Suite 1825, which consists of approximately 5,824 rentable square feet of area ("Suite 1825"), as depicted on Exhibit A attached hereto.
- C. Tenant has further requested that Landlord grant Tenant a license to temporarily use approximately 2,000 square feet on the 18 floor of the 2101 Webster Building consisting of a portion of Suite 1875 ("Suite 1875"), and grant to Tenant a right to expand the Premises to include the balance of Suite 1875, as depicted on Exhibit B attached hereto.
- D. Landlord has agreed to the foregoing on the terms and conditions of this Amendment.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, Landlord and Tenant hereby agree as follows (capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meaning given them in the Lease):

AGREEMENT

- 1. <u>Incorporation of Recitals</u>. Recitals A through D above are incorporated herein by reference.
- 2. <u>Suite 1825</u>. Commencing on March 15, 2011 and continuing until terminated by either Landlord or Tenant on not less than thirty days prior written notice, Tenant shall lease Suite 1825 in addition to the Premises. Commencing on March 15, 2011, (a) all references in the Lease to

the Premises shall include Suite 1825, and (b) Tenant shall pay \$14,560.00 per month as Base Rent for Suite 1825 (based on \$2.50 per rentable square foot), provided that Suite 1825 shall not be considered for the purpose of determining Tenant's Proportionate Share

- 3. <u>Temporary Space</u>. Commencing on March 15, 2011 and continuing until the earlier of (a) Tenant exercises its rights under <u>Section 5</u> of this Amendment to expand the Premises to include all of Suite 1875, or (b) July15, 2011, Tenant shall have the right to use that portion of Suite 1875 shown on <u>Exhibit B</u> attached hereto (the "<u>Temporary Space</u>"). Tenant shall not pay Base Rent for the Temporary Space and the Temporary Space shall not be considered for the purpose of determining Tenant's Proportionate Share, but Tenant's use of the Temporary Space shall otherwise be subject to the terms and conditions of the Lease. If Tenant does not exercise its right to expand the Premises to include the balance of Suite 1875, Tenant shall surrender the Temporary Space to Landlord on or before July15, 2011 in the condition required by the Lease.
- 4. <u>Possession; As-Is Condition.</u> Tenant acknowledges that it is currently in possession of Suite 1825 and the Temporary Space pursuant to an oral agreement with Landlord and Tenant has accepted Suite 1825 and the Temporary Space in their "as-is, where is" condition. Except as set forth in this <u>Section 4</u>, Tenant hereby acknowledges that there are no agreements, representations, understandings or obligations on the part of Landlord to perform any alterations, repairs or improvements therein and Landlord shall not be obligated to provide or pay for any improvement work or services related to the improvement of Suites 1825 and the Temporary Space. At Tenant's cost, Tenant shall install and remove (at the end of the applicable term) four card readers (one for each door) at the entrances to Suite 1825 and the Temporary Space. At Landlord's cost, Landlord will secure the door dividing the Temporary Space from the balance of Suite 1875. Tenant also acknowledges that Landlord has made no representation or warranty regarding the condition of Suite 1825 or the Temporary Space, except as expressly provided in this Amendment.

Expansion Option.

- (a) Expansion Option. So long as there is no Default by Tenant under the Lease or this Amendment, Landlord hereby grants Tenant an option (Expansion Option") to lease Suite 1875 on a month to month basis, which space consists of approximately 6,924 rentable square feet, as shown on Exhibit B attached hereto.
- (b) <u>Exercise of Option</u>. The Expansion Option contained herein shall be exercised by Tenant by delivering notice to Landlord on or before July 15, 2011, stating that Tenant is exercising its option as to Suite 1875.
- (c) <u>Terms</u>. In the event that Tenant timely exercises its option to lease Suite 1875: (a) Tenant shall lease Suite 1875 on a month to month basis until terminated by either Landlord or Tenant on not less than 30 days prior notice; (b) all references in the Lease and this Amendment to the "Premises" shall be deemed to include Suite 1875, and (c) Tenant shall pay \$17,310 per month as Base Rent for Suite 1875 (based on \$2.50 per rentable square foot), provided that Suite 1875 shall not be considered for the purpose of determining Tenant's Proportionate Share.

2

- (d) <u>As-Is Condition</u>. Tenant shall accept and take Suite 1875 in its "as is" condition, and Landlord shall not be obligated to provide or pay for any improvement work or services related to the improvement of Suite 1875.
- 6. <u>FF&E</u>. During the term of Tenant's occupancy of Suites 1825 and 1875, Tenant shall be entitled to use the tables, chairs and other property of Landlord listed on <u>Exhibit C</u> attached hereto (collectively, "<u>Landlord's FF&E</u>"). Tenant shall maintain Landlord's FF&E in good condition and repair and shall replace any of Landlord's FF&E that is damaged or stolen. At the end of Tenant's occupancy of Suite 1825 and/or 1875, Tenant shall return Landlord's FF&E in the same condition as received, reasonable wear and tear excepted.
- 7. <u>Brokers.</u> Landlord and Tenant each warrant and represent to the other that it has not employed or dealt with any real estate broker or finder in connection with this Amendment, and that it knows of no real estate broker, agent or finder who is or might be entitled to a commission or fee in connection with this Amendment. Landlord and Tenant each agree to indemnify, defend and hold the other harmless from and against any and all claims demands, losses, liabilities, lawsuits, judgments, and costs and

expenses (including without limitation reasonable attorneys' fees) with respect to any leasing commission or equivalent compensation alleged to be owing on account of an
dealings with any real estate broker or agent occurring by, through, or under the indemnifying party in connection with this Amendment.

- 8. Status of Lease. Except as amended by this Amendment, the Lease remains unchanged, and, as amended by this Amendment, the Lease is in full force and effect.
- 9. <u>Counterparts.</u> This Amendment may be executed in several counterparts, each of which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same Amendment. In addition, properly executed, authorized signatures may be transmitted via facsimile and upon receipt shall constitute an original signature.
- 10. Entire Agreement. There are no oral or written agreements or representations between the parties hereto affecting the Lease not contained in the Lease or this Amendment. The Lease, as amended, supersedes and cancels any and all previous negotiations, arrangements, representations, brochures, displays, projections, estimates, agreements, and understandings, if any, made by, to, or between Landlord and Tenant and their respective agents and employees with respect to the subject matter thereof, and none shall be used to interpret, construe, supplement or contradict the Lease, including any and all amendments thereto. The Lease, and all amendments thereto, shall be considered to be the only agreement between the parties hereto and their representatives and agents. To be effective and binding on Landlord and Tenant, any amendment, revision, change or modification to the provisions of the Lease must be in writing and executed by both parties.

revision, change or modification to the provisions of the Lease must be in	a writing and executed by both parties.
	—Signatures Next Page—
	3
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have entered into this A	Amendment as of the date first set forth above.
	"Tenant":
	PANDORA MEDIA, INC., a California corporation
	By: Name: Its:
	"Landlord":
	CIM/OAKLAND CENTER 21, LP, a Delaware limited partnership
	By: CIM/Oakland Office Properties GP, LLC, its general partner
	By: Avraham Shemesh Treasurer
	4
	EXHIBIT A
	SUITE 1825
	EXHIBIT B
sun	TE 1875/TEMPORARY SPACE
	EXHIBIT C
	I AND ODD'S EE&E

FIFTH AMENDMENT TO LEASE

THIS FIFTH AMENDMENT TO LEASE (this "Amendment") is entered into as of July 1, 2011 by and between CIM/OAKLAND CENTER 21, LP, a Delaware limited partnership ("Landlord"), and PANDORA MEDIA, INC., a California corporation ("Tenant"), with reference to the following facts:

RECITALS

- A. Landlord and Tenant entered into that certain Office Lease dated as of July 23, 2009, as amended by that certain First Amendment to Lease dated as of April 13, 2010, that certain Second Amendment to Lease dated June 16, 2010, that certain Third Amendment to Lease dated as of December 15, 2010 and that certain Fourth Amendment to Lease dated March 10, 2011 (collectively, the "Lease"), pursuant to which Tenant leases certain premises (the 'Premises'') consisting of 54,300 rentable square feet on the fifteenth (15th) floor, sixteenth (16th) and eighteenth (18th) floor of the Building located 2101 Webster Street, Oakland, California (the '2101 Webster Building'), which is part of the office project known as "Center 21" comprised of (i) the 2101 Webster Building, (ii) the building located at 2100 Franklin Street, Oakland, California (the "2100 Franklin Building"; and together with the 2101 Webster Building the 'Buildings''), (iii) a subterranean parking garage underneath the Buildings, and (iv) a multi-story parking structure located at 2353 Webster Street (collectively, the "Project").
- B. Pursuant to the Fourth Amendment to Lease, Landlord granted to Tenant a license to temporarily use approximately 2,000 square feet on the 18 floor of the 2101 Webster Building consisting of a portion of Suite 1875 ("Suite 1875"), and granted to Tenant a right to expand the Premises to include all or a portion of Suite 1875 on a month-to-month basis.
- C. Tenant has elected to terminate its temporary license and exercise its rights under the Fourth Amendment to Lease to expand the Premises to include a portion of Suite 1875 consisting of 4,462 square feet, as depicted on the attached Exhibit A. (the "Expansion Space").
 - D. Landlord has agreed to the foregoing on the terms and conditions of this Amendment.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, Landlord and Tenant hereby agree as follows (capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meaning given them in the Lease):

AGREEMENT

- 1. <u>Incorporation of Recitals</u>. Recitals A through D above are incorporated herein by reference.
- 2. <u>Suite 1875</u>. Commencing on July 1, 2011 and continuing until terminated by either Landlord or Tenant on not less than thirty days prior written notice, Tenant shall lease the

Expansion Space in addition to the Premises. Except as otherwise provided in this Amendment, the Expansion Space shall be leased by Tenant on the terms and conditions set forth in the Lease. Commencing on July 1, 2011, (a) all references in the Lease to the Premises shall include the Expansion Space, and (b) Tenant shall pay \$11,155.00 per month as Base Rent for the Expansion Space (based on \$2.50 per rentable square foot), provided that the Expansion Space shall not be considered for the purpose of determining Tenant's Proportionate Share

- 3. <u>Possession; As-Is Condition</u>. Tenant acknowledges that it has accepted the Expansion Space in its "as-is, where is" condition. Tenant hereby acknowledges that there are no agreements, representations, understandings or obligations on the part of Landlord to perform any alterations, repairs or improvements therein and Landlord shall not be obligated to provide or pay for any improvement work or services related to the improvement of the Expansion Space. Tenant also acknowledges that Landlord has made no representation or warranty regarding the condition of the Expansion Space, except as expressly provided in this Amendment.
- 4. <u>No Further Expansion Rights.</u> The parties acknowledge that Tenant's expansion rights under Paragraph 5 of the Fourth Amendment to Lease have expired and said Paragraph 5 is no longer of any force or effect.
- 5. <u>Brokers.</u> Landlord and Tenant each warrant and represent to the other that it has not employed or dealt with any real estate broker or finder in connection with this Amendment, and that it knows of no real estate broker, agent or finder who is or might be entitled to a commission or fee in connection with this Amendment. Landlord and Tenant each agree to indemnify, defend and hold the other harmless from and against any and all claims demands, losses, liabilities, lawsuits, judgments, and costs and expenses (including without limitation reasonable attorneys' fees) with respect to any leasing commission or equivalent compensation alleged to be owing on account of any dealings with any real estate broker or agent occurring by, through, or under the indemnifying party in connection with this Amendment.
- 6. Status of Lease. Except as amended by this Amendment, the Lease remains unchanged, and, as amended by this Amendment, the Lease is in full force and effect.
- 7. <u>Counterparts.</u> This Amendment may be executed in several counterparts, each of which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same Amendment. In addition, properly executed, authorized signatures may be transmitted via facsimile and upon receipt shall constitute an original signature.
- 8. <u>Entire Agreement.</u> There are no oral or written agreements or representations between the parties hereto affecting the Lease not contained in the Lease or this Amendment. The Lease, as amended, supersedes and cancels any and all previous negotiations, arrangements, representations, brochures, displays, projections, estimates, agreements, and understandings, if any, made by, to, or between Landlord and Tenant and their respective agents and employees with respect to the subject matter thereof, and none shall be used to interpret, construe, supplement or contradict the Lease, including any and all amendments thereto. The Lease, and all amendments thereto, shall be considered to be the only agreement between the parties hereto

2

and their representatives and agents. To be effective and binding on Landlord and Tenant, any amendment, revision, change or modification to the provisions of the Lease must be in writing and executed by both parties.

-Signatures Next Page-

"Tenant":		
PANDOR a Californi	A MEDIA, INC., a corporation	
By: Name: Its:		
"Landlord	".	
CIM/OAK a Delaware	CLAND CENTER 21, LP, blimited partnership	
Ву:	CIM/Oakland Office Properties GP, LLC, its general partner	
	By: Avraham Shemesh Treasurer	
4		
EXHIBIT A		
EXPANSION SPACE		

SIXTH AMENDMENT TO LEASE

THIS SIXTH AMENDMENT TO LEASE (this "Amendment") is entered into as of September , 2011 by and between CIM/OAKLAND CENTER 21, LP, a Delaware limited partnership ("Landlord"), and PANDORA MEDIA, INC., a California corporation ("Tenant"), with reference to the following facts:

RECITALS

A. Landlord and Tenant entered into that certain Office Lease dated as of July 23, 2009, as amended by that certain First Amendment to Lease dated as of
April 13, 2010 (the "First Amendment"), that certain Second Amendment to Lease dated June 16, 2010 (the Second Amendment"), that certain Third Amendment to Lease
dated as of December 15, 2010 (the "Third Amendment"), that certain Fourth Amendment to Lease dated March 10, 2011 (the Fourth Amendment"), and that certain Fifth
Amendment to Lease dated July 1, 2011 (the "Fifth Amendment"; collectively, the "Lease"), pursuant to which Tenant leases certain premises (the 'Premises') consisting of
54,300 rentable square feet on the fifteenth (15th) floor, sixteenth (16th) and eighteenth (18th) floor of the Building located 2101 Webster Street, Oakland, California (the
"2101 Webster Building"), which is part of the office project known as "Center 21" comprised of (i) the 2101 Webster Building, (ii) the building located at 2100 Franklin
Street, Oakland, California (the "2100 Franklin Building"; and together with the 2101 Webster Building the 'Buildings'), (iii) a subterranean parking garage underneath the
Buildings, and (iv) a multi-story parking structure located at 2353 Webster Street (collectively, the "Project").

- B. Pursuant to the Fourth Amendment to Lease, Landlord granted the right to allow Tenant to lease approximately 5,824 rentable square feet on the 18 floor of the 2101 Webster Building commonly known as "Suite 1825" on a month-to-month basis.
- C. Pursuant to the terms of the Fifth Amendment, Landlord agreed to lease to Tenant approximately 4,462 rentable square feet on the 18 floor of the 2101 Webster Building commonly known as "Suite 1875" on a month-to-month basis.
 - C. Tenant has elected to terminate its both its lease of Suite 1825 and of Suite 1875.
 - D. Landlord has agreed to the foregoing on the terms and conditions of this Amendment.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, Landlord and Tenant hereby agree as follows (capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meaning given them in the Lease):

AGREEMENT

1.	Incorporation of Recitals.	Recitals A through D above are	incorporated herein by reference
----	----------------------------	--------------------------------	----------------------------------

- 2. <u>Premises.</u> As of September 30,2011, Tenant shall surrender and return exclusive possession of Suite 1825 and Suite 1875 to Landlord. Upon Tenant's vacation and surrender of Suite 1825 and Suite 1875, Tenant shall have no further rights or interests in either Space 1825 or Space 1875, and shall return Landlord's FF&E as required under Paragraph 6 of the Fourth Amendment. Upon receipt of Suite 1825 and Suite 1875, Landlord shall be free to lease or transfer either Suite 1825 and/or Suite 1875 in its sole discretion. Thereafter, Tenant shall continue to lease the Premises, as it is defined above, pursuant to the terms of the Lease, and Paragraph 2 of the Fifth Amendment and Paragraphs 2, 3 and 5 of the Fourth Amendment shall have no further force and effect.
- 3. <u>Brokers.</u> Landlord and Tenant each warrant and represent to the other that it has not employed or dealt with any real estate broker or finder in connection with this Amendment, and that it knows of no real estate broker, agent or finder who is or might be entitled to a commission or fee in connection with this Amendment. Landlord and Tenant each agree to indemnify, defend and hold the other harmless from and against any and all claims demands, losses, liabilities, lawsuits, judgments, and costs and expenses (including without limitation reasonable attorneys' fees) with respect to any leasing commission or equivalent compensation alleged to be owing on account of any dealings with any real estate broker or agent occurring by, through, or under the indemnifying party in connection with this Amendment.
- 4. Status of Lease. Except as amended by this Amendment, the Lease remains unchanged, and, as amended by this Amendment, the Lease is in full force and effect.
- 5. <u>Counterparts.</u> This Amendment may be executed in several counterparts, each of which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same Amendment. In addition, properly executed, authorized signatures may be transmitted via facsimile and upon receipt shall constitute an original signature.
- 6. <u>Entire Agreement.</u> There are no oral or written agreements or representations between the parties hereto affecting the Lease not contained in the Lease or this Amendment. The Lease, as amended, supersedes and cancels any and all previous negotiations, arrangements, representations, brochures, displays, projections, estimates, agreements, and understandings, if any, made by, to, or between Landlord and Tenant and their respective agents and employees with respect to the subject matter thereof, and none shall be used to interpret, construe, supplement or contradict the Lease, including any and all amendments thereto. The Lease, and all amendments thereto, shall be considered to be the only agreement between the parties hereto and their representatives and agents. To be effective and binding on Landlord and Tenant, any amendment, revision, change or modification to the provisions of the Lease must be in writing and executed by both parties.

—Signatures	Next Page—
-------------	------------

"Tenant"

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have entered into this Amendment as of the date first set forth above.

PANDORA MEDIA, INC.,
a California corporation

By:
Name:
Its:

"Landlord":

CIM/OAKLAND CENTER 21, LP, a Delaware limited partnership

Ву:	CIM/Oakland Office Properties GP, LLC, its general partner
	By: Avraham Shemesh

SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO LEASE

THIS SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO LEASE (this "Amendment") is entered into as of July 12, 2012 by and between CIM/OAKLAND CENTER 21, LP, a Delaware limited partnership ("Landlord"), and PANDORA MEDIA, INC., a Delaware corporation ("Tenant"), with reference to the following facts:

RECITALS

- A. Landlord and Tenant entered into that certain Office Lease dated as of July 23, 2009, as amended by that certain First Amendment to Lease dated as of April 13, 2010 (the "First Amendment"), that certain Second Amendment to Lease dated June 16, 2010 (the Second Amendment"), that certain Third Amendment to Lease dated as of December 15, 2010 (the "Third Amendment"), that certain Fourth Amendment to Lease dated March 10, 2011 (the Fourth Amendment"), that certain Fifth Amendment to Lease dated July 1, 2011 (the "Fifth Amendment"), and that certain Sixth Amendment to Lease dated September 27, 2011; collectively, the Lease"), pursuant to which Tenant leases certain premises (the "Premises") consisting of 48,891 rentable square feet on the fifteenth (15h) floor and sixteenth (16th) floors of the Building located 2101 Webster Street, Oakland, California (the "2101 Webster Building"), which is part of the office project known as "Center 21" comprised of (i) the 2101 Webster Building, (ii) the building located at 2100 Franklin Street, Oakland, California (the "2100 Franklin Building"; and together with the 2101 Webster Building the "Buildings"), (iii) a subterranean parking garage underneath the Buildings, and (iv) a multi-story parking structure located at 2353 Webster Street (collectively, the "Project").
- B. Tenant intends to expand the Premises to include certain portions of the sixth (6th) floor of the 2100 Franklin Building, comprised of Suite 600 (consisting of 25,198 rentable square feet) (the "6th Floor Expansion Space"). The Premises have been measured in accordance with the Building Owners and Management Association Method for Measuring Floor Area in Office Buildings, ANSI Z65.1-1996, as modified by Landlord for purposes of the Buildings.
 - C. Landlord has agreed to the foregoing expansion of the 6th Floor Expansion Space, subject to the terms and conditions of this Amendment.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, Landlord and Tenant hereby agree as follows (capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meaning given them in the Lease):

AGREEMENT

- 1. <u>Incorporation of Recitals</u>. Recitals A through C above are incorporated herein by reference.
- 2. <u>The Expanded Premises.</u> Upon full execution and delivery of this Amendment (the "<u>Expansion Commencement Date</u>"), Landlord shall deliver to Tenant and Tenant shall lease the 6th Floor Expansion Space in addition to the Premises. Accordingly, commencing on the

Expansion Commencement Date, and continuing throughout the Extended Term, as defined in the Third Amendment (the <u>'Expansion Space Term'</u>), Tenant shall lease a total of 74,089 rentable square feet, which space shall herein be known and referred to as the <u>"Expanded Premises</u>." Hereinafter, all references in the Lease to the Premises shall refer to the Expanded Premises.

- 3. <u>Monthly Base Rent for the 6th Floor Expansion Space</u>. The parties agree that the Base Rent for the first twelve (12) months of the Expansion Space Term pertaining to the 6th Floor Expansion Space commencing on October 1, 2012 (the "6th Floor Expansion Space Rent Commencement Date") shall be \$71,814.30 (based on \$2.85 per rentable square foot). Thereafter, Base Rent shall be increased annually by 3% per annum throughout the Expansion Space Term.
- 4. <u>Base Year; Tenant's Proportionate Share.</u> Commencing on the 6th Floor Expansion Space Term, and during the Expansion Space Term, as to the 6th Floor Expansion Space, Tenant shall pay Tenant's Proportionate Share of increases of Operating Costs over the calendar year 2013, which is 11.63% (as to the 6th Floor Expansion Space only), based on 25,198/216,668 (as to the 2100 Franklin Building), and 3.66% (as to the Buildings). Tenant shall continue to pay Tenant's Proportionate Share as to the remaining Premises pursuant to the terms of the Lease.
- 5. <u>Condition of the Expansion Space</u>. Tenant hereby agrees to accept the 6th Floor Expansion Space in their "as-is, where is" condition. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord shall provide Tenant with a tenant improvement allowance (the "<u>Improvement Allowance</u>") in the amount of \$1,133,910.00 (based on \$45.00 per rentable square foot of the 6th Floor Expansion Space) to be used for costs relating to the design and construction of interior improvements that will be permanently affixed to the 6th Floor Expansion Space (the "<u>Improvements</u>"), less Landlord's construction management fee equal to 3% of the costs of the Improvements. Landlord and Tenant shall mutually agree upon a general contractor to construct the Improvements. Prior to commencement of construction of any Improvements, Tenant shall provide Landlord with plans and specifications prepared by a licensed architect for Landlord's approval, which approval will not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. All Improvements shall be constructed in accordance with such plans and specifications, and shall be performed and completed in compliance with all applicable laws, codes, regulations and ordinances, free of liens and without any claims for unpaid bills for material, labor or supplies. Tenant shall ensure that all contractors and subcontractors carry "All Risk" insurance in accordance with the terms of Article 11 of the Lease. Tenant shall furnish to Landlord any executed construction permits, final inspection reports, and such invoices, certifications, affidavits, lien releases, and other documentation as Landlord may reasonably request, to be assured that the Improvements have been completed in compliance with all laws and in accordance with the plans and specifications have been paid for by Tenant. Provided Tenant complies with the foregoing requirements, including but not limited to, proof of payment of all bills and delivery to Lessor of conditional and unconditional lien releases from all contractors,

_

subcontractors and material suppliers, Landlord will reimburse Tenant within thirty (30) days after completion of the Improvements and submission of a written request accompanied by such materials up to an amount not to exceed the amount of the Improvement Allowance. Tenant will be responsible for paying all costs of the Improvements in excess of the Improvement Allowance. At the time it approves the plans, Landlord must advise Tenant in writing which, if any, of the Improvements must be removed upon the expiration or earlier termination of the term of this Amendment.

- 6. <u>Security Deposit</u>. Concurrently with Tenant's execution of this Amendment, Tenant shall deposit an additional \$300,000.00 towards the Security Deposit. Tenant may elect to deposit an irrevocable letter of credit, subject to the terms of the Lease and substantially in the form of Exhibit F thereto, in lieu of depositing a cash Security Deposit. Landlord shall continue to hold the Security Deposit, as increased herein, pursuant to the terms of the Lease.
- 7. Parking. Effective as of the 6th Floor Expansion Rent Commencement Date and continuing throughout the Expansion Term, Tenant shall have the right to rent the additional following parking spaces: Up to twenty-five (25) unreserved parking passes in the Parking Structure at 2353 Webster, and up to two (2) unreserved parking passes in the Underground Parking Garage. Tenant's rental and use of such additional parking passes shall be in accordance with, and subject to, all provisions of the Lease including, without limitation, any increases in payment of the monthly parking rates as specified therein. Bicycle parking is available on the first deck of the 2353 Webster Parking Structure at no cost to Tenant. The parties acknowledge that Landlord currently operates a courtesy shuttle on non-holiday business days between the Parking Structure and the Building, and between the Building and the 19th Street BART Station between 3:30 p.m. and 8:30 p.m. Tenant should direct any questions regarding such shuttle to the Buildings manager.

8. signage	1 0	e, including 2100 Franklin Building directory, elevator lobby and suite identification	
commi deman equiva	Brokers. Landlord and Tenant each warrant and represent to the other that other dealt with any real estate broker or finder in connection with this Amendment, and that mmission or fee in connection with this Amendment. Landlord and Tenant each agree t mands, losses, liabilities, lawsuits, judgments, and costs and expenses (including without uivalent compensation alleged to be owing on account of any dealings with any real estatemnifying party in connection with this Amendment.	o indemnify, defend and hold the other harmless from and against any and all claims t limitation reasonable attorneys' fees) with respect to any leasing commission or	
10.	. <u>Status of Lease</u> . Except as amended by this Amendment, the Lease remains unch	anged, and, as amended by this Amendment, the Lease is in full force and effect.	
	3		
11. and the	. <u>Counterparts</u> . This Amendment may be executed in several counterparts, each of d the same Amendment. In addition, properly executed, authorized signatures may be to		
agreem none sl conside	Entire Agreement. There are no oral or written agreements or representations bet mendment. The Lease, as amended, supersedes and cancels any and all previous negotia reements, and understandings, if any, made by, to, or between Landlord and Tenant and ne shall be used to interpret, construe, supplement or contradict the Lease, including any insidered to be the only agreement between the parties hereto and their representatives are vision, change or modification to the provisions of the Lease must be in writing and execution.	tions, arrangements, representations, brochures, displays, projections, estimates, their respective agents and employees with respect to the subject matter thereof, and and all amendments thereto. The Lease, and all amendments thereto, shall be ad agents. To be effective and binding on Landlord and Tenant, any amendment,	
	—Signatures No	ext Page—	
	4		
IN WI	WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have entered into this Amendment as of "Tena		
		OORA MEDIA, INC., fornia corporation	
	By:		
	Name Its:		
	"Land	llord":	
		CIM/OAKLAND CENTER 21, LP, a Delaware limited partnership	
	Ву:	CIM/Oakland Office Properties GP, LLC, its general partner	
		By:	
		Avraham Shemesh	
	E		

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Joseph Kennedy, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Pandora Media, Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report, based on such evaluation; and
 - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

September 4, 2012

/s/ Joseph Kennedy

Name: Joseph Kennedy

Title: Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board (Principal

Executive Officer)

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Steven Cakebread, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Pandora Media, Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report, based on such evaluation; and
 - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

September 4, 2012

/s/ Steven Cakebread

Name: Steven Cakebread

Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial

Officer,

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 31, 2012 (the "Report") for the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act") and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

Each of the undersigned certifies that, to his knowledge:

- 1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and
- 2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Pandora Media, Inc.

September 4, 2012

/s/ Joseph Kennedy

Name: Joseph Kennedy

Title: Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board (Principal

Executive Officer)

/s/ Steven Cakebread

Name: Steven Cakebread

Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial

Officer.

This certification accompanying the Report is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to the liabilities such Section, and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before, on or after the date of the Report), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.